Not There When You Need It: The Search for Free Hospital Care

October 2003



This report was written with support from the Surdna Foundation, the Jessie B. Cox Charitable Trust, and The W. K. Kellogg Foundation. Community Catalyst, Inc. 30 Winter Street, 10th Floor Boston, MA 02108 617-338-6035 Fax: 617-451-5838 www.communitycatalyst.org

Acknowledgments

Community Catalyst would like to express its appreciation to the consumer advocates and community monitors whose work made this report on hospital free care possible. Their commitment to improving community access to health care is truly awe inspiring, and their achievements have been remarkable. In particular we would like to thank Yolanda Cruz at Building Parent Power in Hartford, CT; Trey Daly at the Legal Aid Society of Greater Cincinnati; Jim Duffett at Campaign for Better Health Care in Chicago, IL; Rose Guercia and Donna Kass at the Long Island Health Access Monitoring Project; Claudia Lenhoff at Champaign County Health Care Consumers in Champaign, IL; Cathy Levine at UHCAN-Ohio in Columbus, OH; Sylvia Portillo and Jon Liss at Tenants' and Workers' Support Committee in Alexandria, VA; and Ellen Pinney at the Oregon Health Action Campaign in Salem, OR. We would also like to thank The Access Project. Finally, we would like to thank Angela Lusk and Toure Muhammed of SEIU's Hospital Accountability Project in Chicago, IL.

We are also indebted to Vince Stehle, Ed Skloot and the Surdna Foundation; Rachel Pohl and the Jessie B. Cox Charitable Trust; and Terri Wright and the W. K. Kellogg Foundation. Their support of Community Catalyst's community benefits and other work over the years has contributed to fundamental alterations in the ways non-profit health care institutions and their local communities relate to each other. It has also contributed to concrete policy changes in a number of areas — including hospital free care — that will improve access to health care. Both Community Catalyst and the community organizations we work with are stronger as a result of their generosity.

Finally, we would like to thank Terri Langston and the Public Welfare Foundation. The Foundation's commitment to consumer health advocacy, and its willingness to back that commitment up with financial support to the organizations that participated in the Free Care Monitoring Project as well as to Community Catalyst, have immeasurably strengthened the health care justice movement.

You can download this document from the Community Catalyst website, <u>www.communitycatalyst.org</u>. Hard copies are available by calling 617-275-2805. Organizations seeking to distribute or otherwise make widespread use of this publication are asked to notify Community Catalyst.

Community Catalyst

Community Catalyst, based in Boston, Massachusetts, is a national nonprofit advocacy organization that builds consumer and community participation in the U.S. health system to secure quality, affordable health care for all.

Since its founding in 1997, Community Catalyst has worked with organizations representing disadvantaged constituencies in over 30 states to create self-advocacy capacity for policy and system change in health and related human services. Its multi-disciplinary staff uses a capacity-building approach to providing community leaders, consumer organizations, policymakers, and the participating public with policy analysis and strategic support that helps them create tangible improvements in the health of families, individuals and communities.

Not There When You Need It: The Search for Free Hospital Care was produced as part of Community Catalyst's Community Benefit and Free Care Initiative. Other Community Catalyst projects include the Community Health Assets Project, a joint undertaking with the West Coast Regional Office of Consumers Union, which works to preserve health care access amid for-profit pressures on hospitals and health plans; the Prescription Access Litigation Project, which works to lower prescription drug prices; the Physician Diversity Project, which is focused on increasing minority participation in the physician workforce; and RealBenefits, a program which facilitates access to crucial public health and human services for low-income families and individuals.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	9
Part I: Introduction Background	11 11
Project Goals	14
Part II: The Community	
Monitoring Activities	15
Setting the Stage	15
What the Monitors Found	17
The Aftermath	19
Part III: About Free Care	23
What Is Free Care?	23
FreeCare vs. Bad Debt	23
Who Needs Free Care?	23
Debunking the Myth of Access	25
The Illusion of EMTALA	26
The Limitations of Public Programs	27
Medicare Gaps	27
A Word About The Federal Poverty Level	28
The Importance of Free Care	29
The Community Impact	
When Free Care is Hard to Find	35
Tracking Hospitals' Free Care Performance	35
The Free Care Obligation	37
Tax-Exempt Status	38
Statutory Or Regulatory Requirements	41
"Earmarked" Funds	43
Corporate Social Responsibility	45
Part IV: Recommendations	47
Local Government	48
State Government	48
Communities	49
Philanthropies	50
All Parties	50
Notes	51

Executive Summary

What happens to low -and moderate- income families who don't have health coverage when one person gets sick? The public perception is that one way or another, anyone who needs hospital care can get it, regardless of ability to pay. The reality, though, is that a steep hospital bill will usually follow, and help paying that bill is hard to find. This is the conclusion of the Free Care Monitoring Project,

an undertaking of Community Catalyst and eight grassroots organizations in nine communities across the country. Since 1999, the project has investigated how easy – or difficult – it is for consumers to get information about free or reduced-price hospital care. The investigation, which had looked at more than 60 non-profit hospitals as of Spring 2003, consists of a series of telephone calls and visits to hospitals by "community monitors" – community residents from a variety of backgrounds, including some who are uninsured. Using a prepared script, the monitors ask whether free care is available; if it is, they also ask about the application process.

This is what the monitors have found to date:

- ➡ Most callers are told that free care is not available. If there is a free care policy, front-line hospital staff are almost universally unaware of its existence. Nor do these staff members know who to refer callers to for information about free care.
- ⇒ The typical response from hospital staff is that emergency care will be provided without proof of ability to pay, but the patient will be billed for those services.
- ➡ If the community has a public "safety net" hospital, the staff typically tell the monitors to go there for free care.
- ➡ Monitors who are not fluent in English generally are out of luck. They are almost never connected with a hospital staff person who speaks their language, even if the language is a common one like Spanish.

Non profit hospitals, which are exempt from federal, state, and local taxes and receive many other advantages as a result of that status, have an obligation to provide community benefits. And according to the IRS, the provision of free care is a significant indicator that a non profit hospital is meeting that obligation. For-profit hospitals should provide free care as well: health care is an essential service, just as public utilities are. All providers of that service have an obligation to meet the public need in some measure.

Hospital free care is the *ultimate* safety net. With over 43 million uninsured people in the United

States, and a rapidly growing number of people who are underinsured, the need for free care has never been greater. When people can't get free care, they often suffer serious health consequences, including late diagnosis of – and poorer prognosis for –life-threatening conditions, and less aggressive treatment of conditions when they do get care. They also suffer financial consequences: astronomical bills that are sent to collection, resulting in liens on property, wage garnishments, and, in the worst cases, personal bankruptcy. And when people can't get free care, there may be serious public health consequences: the spread of undiagnosed and untreated communicable diseases and the clogging of hospital emergency rooms with people who have no alternative source of care.

A number of steps must be taken to address both the specific problems highlighted by the community monitors *and* the broader issues identified by the Free Care Monitoring Project.

Hospitals should adopt and actively implement free care policies that, at a minimum, provide full free care for uninsured and underinsured people with incomes up to *at least* 200% of the federal poverty level (FPL), partial free care for people with incomes up to *at least* 400%, and financial assistance for others with catastrophic medical bills. Communities should work with the hospitals to ensure that those policies are carried out, and that the hospitals' other community benefits respond to community needs. Policymakers should promote mechanisms for assessing hospital free care performance – and for enforcement when performance falls short.

All parties, including employers, insurers, government, hospitals and other providers, and consumers, should work together to develop mechanisms – including explicit cost shifting, if necessary – to ensure that the free care burden is shared equitably across all hospitals and all significant payers. Increasing reliance on the marketplace to control health care costs has had an impact on the ability of some hospitals to meet their free care obligations. Competition has made it more difficult for them to spread the cost of caring for the uninsured across their patient populations. It has also threatened the survival of some efficient, high-quality hospitals that are committed to their missions to care for everyone who comes through their doors. Private third-party payers, employers, providers and government have all contributed to the problem, and they all need to contribute to a solution. Right now, the shortage of free and low-cost primary, preventive, and hospital care is a burden that is falling disproportionately on the uninsured and underinsured. That burden must be spread, and it's incumbent on all system "players" to develop mechanisms – e.g. uncompensated care pools, redirection of public funds — for ensuring that happens.

3

All interests – private and public – need to come together to develop a plan for achieving universal health care coverage before the current system collapses under its own weight. The need for free care will not be eliminated until there is universal health coverage. Free care is not an adequate substitute for comprehensive health benefits. And focusing solely on strengthening the safety net is not a sustainable strategy. Only when all government, business, and provider interests are accountable for the provision of free care will they exert the political pressure necessary for universal coverage.

Part I: Introduction

BACKGROUND

Rose Shaffer never thought a hospital bill would ruin her life, but she discovered that without health insurance, the road to bankruptcy hits middle class professionals as well as the poor. Shaffer, a registered nurse, works two jobs in order to make ends meet. She serves as director of nursing at a long-term care facility in Chicago, and she also has a part-time nursing position. Her full-time job provides her with insurance through a PPO plan.

It was a different story in 2000, when Shaffer worked at a home health agency that did not provide health coverage. In October of that year, Shaffer suffered a major heart attack. She was rushed to one Chicago-area hospital, where she was kept for two nights, then transferred to an affiliated hospital where she stayed for another night. Her hospital bill for those 3 nights totaled \$18,000.

A hospital social worker asked about health insurance. When Shaffer told her she had none, the social worker promised to send her a financial assistance application. Shaffer never received the form. She eventually called the hospital to track it down, but nobody could tell her anything – she kept getting transferred, and eventually she was cut off. She tried again, but to no avail.

Although the application never came, the hospital was able to find her to serve a summons for non-payment of the hospital bill. Rose appeared, accompanied by a lawyer, but she never saw a judge. "We went into the hall with the hospital's lawyer. My lawyer tried to get him to work out a payment plan, but the hospital's lawyer said he wasn't authorized to do that. My heart attack and the bills threw my whole life out of kilter – my house is in foreclosure, my debts have climbed." Shaffer was told that there was nothing that could be done for her at court, and the hospital would start to garnish \$350 from each paycheck.

Her doctor told Shaffer to avoid stress, but the lawsuit and debt are taking a toll. She recently filed for bankruptcy. Says Shaffer, "The hospital saved my life and now they're trying to take it."

Rose Shaffer's experience is not an isolated one. The popular perception is that one way or another, everyone can get the hospital care they need, but the reality is that many vulnerable people pay a very high price for it – both literally and figuratively. Shaffer is a good example. Instead of receiving the help she needed Shaffer was sued, and she's still suffering the consequences. But Rose Shaffer is not the only one to learn that free hospital care is hard to come by. The problem is pervasive and only likely to get worse according to the Free Care Monitoring Project, a nationwide undertaking of state and local consumer health advocacy organizations.

Since 1999, eight of these organizations have monitored hospital free care practices in nine communities, most recently in Spring 2003. The investigation consists of a series of telephone calls and visits to hospitals by "community monitors" – community residents from a variety of backgrounds, including some who are uninsured. Using a prepared script, the monitors ask whether free care is available, and if it is, they ask about the application process.

The purpose of the monitoring is to determine how easy it is for consumers to get information from hospitals about free care. Free care (also known as charity care) is medical treatment that a hospital or other provider gives without expecting to be paid. The provider has determined – usually in accordance with an institutional policy or a government statute or regulation – that the patient is eligible to receive care at no charge or at a reduced rate. In calls and visits to more than 60 non profit hospitals, the community monitors found that few have systems in place for informing people that free or reduced-price care is available or for helping them obtain such care. Indeed, most hospitals indicated that they would provide care, but the patient would be billed.

The monitoring results to date are consistent both across communities and over time, but the need for free care has grown substantially since the project began. The most recent U.S. Census Bureau data indicate that 43.6 million people – 15.2% of the population – were uninsured throughout 2002, up from 41.2 million the year before. And, according to health policy experts, the number of people without health coverage continues to grow. Even people with insurance coverage are finding that their benefits are being cut back and their out-of-pocket medical expenses are increasing. These "underinsured" – particularly those with serious or chronic illnesses – may also need access to free care if their out-of-pocket expenses for hospital care exceed their ability to pay.

Without free care, the health of individuals and families, as well as the health of communities is jeopardized. For example:

- ⇒ People who owe hospitals money often delay seeking essential medical care. This often leads to avoidable hospitalizations, late-stage diagnoses of cancer and other serious diseases, and the unchecked spread of communicable diseases.
- Hospital collection activities, which are becoming increasingly aggressive, often result in unworkable payment plans, damaged credit ratings, court judgments that permit wage garnishment, seizure of bank accounts, forced sales of family homes, and bankruptcy. All of these harm individuals and can undermine the economic stability of communities.
- ➡ Health disparities are exacerbated because racial and ethnic minorities who have higher rates of uninsurance – have less access to care.

The expectation that hospitals will provide at least some free care to those in need arises from a number of sources. In some cases, communities have established public hospitals that have explicit missions to serve those who don't have financial resources. In the case of non profit hospitals, the obligation is rooted in their tax-exempt status. The *quid pro quo* for relieving an institution of its tax burden – federal, state, and local – is the expectation that it will provide benefits to the

community. In addition, a number of states expect hospitals to provide some level of free care, generally in exchange for receiving various public funds.

There is also a growing expectation that special responsibilities attach even to for-profit hospitals because health care is an essential service. For-profit hospital ownership is becoming more prevalent, – and for-profit hospitals are becoming major forces in some communities. An analogy can be made to banks that, like for-profit hospitals, operate pursuant to publicly granted charters. Banks are required by law to meet the credit needs of their communities. Similarly, for-profit hospitals – particularly in areas with few other acute care providers – arguably have an obligation to provide some amount of free care as a contribution to meeting the health needs of their communities.

Many private non profit hospitals - which are the primary focus of this report because of the obligations related to that status - would acknowledge a responsibility to provide some measure of free care as part of their mission. Indeed, some hospitals provide significant amounts of free care. And the industry as a whole says that in 2001 alone it provided \$21.5 billion in uncompensated care (although that figure combines free care with bad debt). Based on the project's findings, though, there is a "disconnect" between what hospitals report and what consumers actually experience. When the community monitors showed the results of their investigations to hospital leaders, a number of them acknowledged problems and agreed to address some of them. In Marion and Polk Counties in Oregon; Columbus, Ohio; and Suffolk and Nassau Counties in New York, for example, hospital officials, acting individually or as a group, have agreed to publicize the availability of free care, make applications readily available, and educate staff about free care policies and processes. Some of the hospitals have also agreed to uniform free care applications and eligibility standards. And some of these efforts have blossomed into broader collaborations between the community groups and the hospitals. Community members can be effective in pushing for change, and hospitals have enormous potential to demonstrate leadership on access issues like free care.

Yet the problem of access to health care is not for the hospital industry to solve by itself. Hospitals clearly have a responsibility to deliver some amount of free care, and because of the nature of that obligation, they must be held publicly accountable. But other parties bear some responsibility, and they, too, must be held accountable. Private physicians could be doing more to provide free primary, preventive, and outpatient specialty care. Employers and the insurance industry have obligations as purchasers of health care, particularly because some of their purchasing practices have reduced the subsidies that formerly helped some hospitals finance free care. State and federal governments – as purchasers of health care *and* formulators of public policy – must use their resources and their authority to address the broader access issue.

The ultimate goal for all parties *must* be universal coverage. Focusing attention and resources solely on strengthening the safety net, rather than working simultaneously to create a system of universal health insurance, is not sustainable. All parties – hospitals, business, and insurers – need to do their fair share to ensure access for the uninsured *now*, but they should also advocate for broader, comprehensive solutions that will eliminate the need for a safety net.

PROJECT GOALS

The Free Care Monitoring Project was undertaken to document the barriers consumers face when trying to get information about hospital free care. The local monitoring activities revealed that those barriers are pervasive in each community *and* consistent across all sites. As a result, the project goals have broadened commensurately. They are:

- ⇒ To educate communities about free care generally what free care is, why it's important, and who is obligated to provide it;
- ➡ To galvanize communities to seek accountability from local health care institutions and secure their commitment to improve access to free and reduced-price free care;
- ➡ To demonstrate that hospitals can and have shown leadership in reducing barriers to free care and building trust with community members and organizations;
- ⇒ To engage other parties whose policies and practices affect access to free care such as employers, insurers, and government in efforts that eliminate those barriers; and
- ➡ To begin building a broader constituency one that includes all providers, employers, insurers, suppliers, and policymakers to advocate for universal coverage.

The report includes two companion pieces:

- ⇒ The Hospital Free Care Model Act: legislation that communities and advocates can use to address free care access issues; and
- \Rightarrow A 50-state compendium of the laws that address free care.

Part II: The Community Monitoring Activities

SETTING THE STAGE

In 1999, Community Catalyst began working with a number of grassroots organizations around the country that were concerned about problems low-income people were facing when they needed hospital care but were uninsured or underinsured. There were stories of people being turned away from hospitals or being asked to pay deposits before they were seen. And there were stories of people being pushed into bankruptcy after receiving hospital bills for thousands of dollars. Finally, there were stories of people too ashamed to go back to the hospital where they owed money until a treatable medical problem became a crisis that landed them in the emergency room – adding to the already crushing medical debt.

At the same time, hospital trade associations were touting the amount of care the industry provided "to those who could not afford it."¹ Prompted by the dissonance between the stories they were hearing and the hospitals' claims, Community Catalyst and the grassroots groups decided to develop a community monitoring project that would test how easy – or difficult – it is to get information about the availability of free or reduced-price care at local hospitals.

The goal of the project is two-fold:

- ⇒ First, the groups want to document hospital practices. Where practices need to be improved, the groups attempt to negotiate with the hospitals.
- Second, the groups want to build support among other constituencies including the hospitals and the broader community for advocacy efforts that expand and improve access to health care.

The centerpiece of the work is a monitoring of local hospitals' free care policies and practices, conducted by community members from a broad range of backgrounds. To date, eight grassroots organizations in nine communities across the country have undertaken the exercise, most recently in Hartford, Connecticut, in Spring 2003. And additional ones are being planned.

The monitoring exercise assesses:

- \Rightarrow Whether hospitals have explicit free care policies;
- \Rightarrow Who is covered by those free care policies; and
- \Rightarrow Whether hospitals have procedures and processes in place for facilitating access to free care.

The project is not intended to assess whether the hospitals actually provide free care. Rather, the findings indicate whether a hospital has an *active* commitment to vulnerable individuals and families in the community who need care but can't afford it - i.e., whether free care policies and

procedures are transparent and reasonable, and whether hospitals affirmatively reach out to community members who might need free care. The findings also measure hospital compliance with any applicable state or local law regarding access to free care.

The methodology is simple. In each site, the grassroots organization recruits and trains community members - including people with and without health coverage and employees of social service and faith-based organizations to make telephone inquiries and personal visits to local hospitals, asking about the availability of free care and the policies for providing it. Using protocols designed by Community Catalyst, these "community monitors" call and visit the hospitals and track the responses. Calls are made to the hospitals' general information numbers and patient accounts offices. Some groups also have their monitors contact hospital admitting offices and emergency rooms. At least one monitor visits each hospital to look for signs publicizing the availability of free care. Typically, the monitors look for these signs in the hospitals' various patient reception areas. In some cases, monitors doing these site visits actually question hospital employees about the availability of free care.

To determine the consistency of hospital responses, multiple calls are made to each hospital. The calls are made during the day and evening and – in some communities – on the weekend. In communities with large non-English speaking populations, there is an effort to ensure that at least one of the calls is made in a language commonly spoken within the community – typically Spanish.

Once any caller connects with a member of the hospital staff, he or she asks the following questions:

- Do you give free care if someone's income is limited?
- Do you have a written free care policy you can send me?
- ➡ If there an application or other paperwork?
- \Rightarrow What services are covered?
- ➡ Who do you talk to at the hospital to get free care?

The sites surveyed as of Spring 2003 - and the community groups that did the monitoring - are:

Long Island, NY - Long Island Health Access Monitoring Project

Columbus, OH - Universal Health Care Action Network of Ohio

Washington, DC - Health Care Now

Chicago, IL - Campaign For Better Health Care

Marion and Polk Counties, OR -Oregon Health Action Campaign

Portland, OR - Oregon Health Action Campaign

Champaign County, IL - Champaign County Health Care Consumers

Alexandria, VA - Tenants' and Workers' Support Committee

Hartford, CT - Building Parent Power

WHAT THE MONITORS FOUND

Despite the diversity among the nine sites, the findings of the community monitors were surprisingly consistent.

Callers to the hospitals invariably were told that free care was not available. If there was a free care policy, front line staff were almost universally unaware of its existence, nor did they know who at the hospital the monitors could be referred to for information about free care.

"One woman told me that she didn't think there was such a thing as free care because if there was the hospitals wouldn't be able to go on. She told me to go to a clinic." - Community monitor, Hartford, CT

"Hospital free care is the best-kept secret in town." - Health advocate, Long Island, NY

A common response was that the person should go apply for Medicaid.

"The person I spoke with said there was no free care program. She told me to file for Medicaid and stressed this throughout the conversation." - Community monitor, Columbus, OH

Even when monitors could reach the hospital billing office, they invariably were told either that the staff person had no knowledge of a free care policy or that free care was not available.

"The person in patient accounts told me 'Free care does not exist here. If they need free care, they should call and go to the county medical center." - Community monitor, Long Island, NY

Callers often got caught in voicemail loops or were transferred from staff person to staff person, without getting any information.

"When I called Admitting, I had to call twice, and both times I was transferred three times. Finally a woman said 'You have to talk to a doctor, honey." - Community monitor, Columbus, OH

If the community had a public "safety net" hospital, staff generally told the monitors to go there for free care.

"The hospital person told me 'If someone doesn't have the \$36 deposit, we wouldn't see them. If they needed service, we would discontinue it if there was no way the hospital would get paid. It they can't pay anything, they should go to Cook County Hospital." - Community monitor, Chicago, IL

When callers pressed hospital staff for information, the accommodation that was offered most frequently was the opportunity to work out a payment plan.

"If the person calls up and says I can't pay, then the hospital tries to work out a payment plan and does not necessarily offer the option of financial assistance unless the person specifically asks." - Community monitor's description of conversation with a hospital staff member, Washington, DC

On the limited number of occasions when staff indicated that the hospital had a free care policy, almost all staff refused to send information on it to the caller or indicated that the policy would only be available when the person was admitted or after services were rendered.

"The woman I spoke with did not want to give out the income or family size scale for free care because 'patients tend to lie." - Community monitor, Columbus, OH

"A security guard approached me and asked what I was looking for. I told him I was looking for information about free care. He said 'All there is is what you see.' I felt very intimidated and left. I would not feel comfortable going to this hospital for care." - Community monitor, Hartford, CT A typical response from hospital staff was that emergency care would be provided without proof of ability to pay, *but* the patient would be billed for those services because there was no free care.

"They told me 'If it was a life threatening emergency, we would take you to stabilize you, but you would be billed for everything." - Community monitor, Chicago, IL

Signage containing information about free care was non-existent in the majority of hospitals. To the extent there was signage, it was not readily visible. Signs in patient areas typically addressed non-discrimination and denial of care in general terms, but they did not affirmatively state that free care was available.

"I went to visit the hospital's emergency room. I didn't see any free care policy postings or information." - Community monitor, Hartford, CT

It was particularly difficult for individuals with limited English proficiency to get information. Hospital personnel often hung up on non-English-speaking callers or referred them to other personnel who could not speak their language. In the few cases where callers did reach someone who spoke their language, that staff person had no knowledge of the free care policy.

THE AFTERMATH

Once the group, working with Community Catalyst, compiled its findings, each organization developed its own strategy for using the data. Some groups set up meetings with hospital leaders to discuss the findings. Others decided to release the report publicly, first giving the hospital the opportunity to agree to cooperate to address the problems identified. The organization's press release would note when the hospital agreed to that cooperation. One group opted simply to release the report to the community: they thought their local hospitals would be unresponsive.

Hospital responses were mixed. Some were angry. Several hospitals felt the reports questioned their commitment to providing care to everyone member of the community, even though the organization focused narrowly on whether hospitals had policies and processes in place that made it easy for consumers, including non-English speakers, to get information about free care.

"Private health care providers already provide over two-thirds of the uncompensated care in the city.... I will not waste a minute defending [the hospital] against your foolish accusations." - Hospital CEO, Washington, DC

"We're providers of care. We're not the United Nations." - Ohio Hospital Association executive

Other hospitals were exemplary. Several hospital executives admitted that they had been unaware of the barriers to free or reduced cost care.

"The policy is to provide access to care. If there are [hospital employees] who are not communicating that policy clearly, we have got to make changes and we will make changes." - Long Island hospital executive

Hospital leaders in Marion and Polk Counties in Oregon, Columbus, Ohio, and Suffolk and Nassau Counties in New York, agreed to address some issues raised by the monitoring projects. In Oregon for example, hospital leadership in Marion and Polk Counties worked with the community group to develop a model free care policy that included:

- ➡ Eligibility for full free care at 150% of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL) and a sliding fee scale above that;
- A commitment to negotiating reasonable payment arrangements, i.e. based on the individual's ability to pay rather than a hospital-imposed formula;
- A uniform application and a commitment to staff education about free care policies and the application process;
- \Rightarrow Visible postings about free care.

"We learned there was a lot of weakness in the implementation [of free care programs.]" - Oregon Association of Hospitals and Health Systems

The model policy was subsequently adopted by hospitals in the Portland metropolitan area and in Lincoln County. In Lane County the hospitals are considering adopting a policy that goes even further. And the Oregon Association of Hospitals and Health Systems has recommended that all of its member hospitals adopt the model policy.

In Columbus, the hospitals came together as a group to work with the community organization. Together they agreed to:

- Create better signage about the availability of free care, in English and in other languages commonly spoken in the community;
- Develop easy-to-read brochures in six languages about free care policies and procedures and Medicaid eligibility;
- \Rightarrow Train staff on free care policies and application processes;
- Develop procedures to ensure patients learn about financial assistance before leaving the hospital (and not just when the billing starts).

In addition, hospitals with policies that limited free care eligibility to the state-mandated level of 100% FPL increased the ceiling to 200% FPL for partial free care or, in some cases, *full* free care.

In Nassau and Suffolk Counties in New York, individual hospitals have met with the community monitors and reached agreements about the free care application process and the method for publicizing free care availability. Two hospitals – Nassau Medical Center and Winthrop-University Hospital – have convened consumer advisory boards to address community/hospital relations and other areas of community concern related to hospital performance. North Shore University Hospital has revised and expanded its free care policy, and it is working with its affiliate hospitals to adopt the same policy. The Long Island Health Access Monitoring Project was able to go further though and generate enough community support to get laws passed in both Suffolk and Nassau Counties. The laws require the hospitals to develop free care policies, post clearly visible signs about free care, and notify *every* patient that free care is available. Both laws also establish telephone hotlines for the reporting of complaints, and they provide for penalties for hospital non-compliance. The Nassau law also requires hospitals to file annual reports with the county's health department that include enough data to enable community members and the county to evaluate individual hospital free care performance. The data will also be used by the health department and the legislature to identify health care access problems that exist in the county.

Although a number of implementation issues remain to be addressed, advocates in Oregon, Ohio and New York feel that the hospitals can and will address them. And this leads to another positive project outcome: it has opened new lines of communication between institutions and their communities. In some cases, these relationships already have proven to be mutually beneficial. A number of hospitals appreciate the closer connection to the communities they serve, and they have achieved a better understanding of community concerns. The community organizations, in turn, better appreciate the constraints under which local hospitals operate.

The collaboration between the Oregon Health Action Campaign and many of the hospitals has led to joint efforts to reach out to the low-income uninsured – who otherwise might need free care – and enroll them in the state's Medicaid program, the Oregon Health Plan. It has also led to better linkages between hospitals and community health centers. Hospitals benefit because they have a place to refer the uninsured who they treat in their emergency rooms who then need follow-up care. Community health centers benefit because they have a place to refer their patients who may need inpatient or specialty care.

In Columbus, the hospitals asked for – and got – UHCAN's support in promoting a bill that would put a moratorium on the building of for-profit specialty hospitals. And when a large hospital system decided to transform a small community hospital into an outpatient center, it went to UHCAN Ohio and requested assistance in identifying community needs, and then it sought community collaboration in addressing those needs. By doing so, it obtained community support for the plan instead of community opposition. Finally, when state budget constraints threatened Medicaid eligibility for 60,000 low-income Ohio residents earlier this year, the Ohio Hospital Association and individual hospitals joined together with health care advocates and were successful in stopping the cuts.

But for the efforts of the community monitors, the gap between institutional rhetoric and institutional performance – as experienced by people "on the ground" — would not have come to light. Nor is it likely that any of these very important improvements would have occurred. In places where communities and hospitals have come together, there is a now a recognition of the potential for these collaborations to lead to a whole range of mutual aid and support, including grant applications, certificate of need proceedings, and special health access initiatives. And in communities where hospitals have refused to come to the table, the experience has strengthened the resolve of community members to force those institutions to deal with them.

Part III: About Free Care

WHAT IS FREE CARE?

Free care – which is also called charity care — is medical treatment provided by a hospital or other provider for which the provider *does not expect* to be paid. The provider has determined – usually in accordance with an institutional policy or a statute or regulation – that the individual is eligible to receive care at no charge, or at a reduced charge, based on his or her income.² Free care is not recognized as a receivable on the hospital's accounts. In contrast, "bad debt" is revenue a hospital expects to receive but that goes uncollected – typically after collection efforts.³ Most bad debt results from unpaid insurance claims rather than the unpaid bills of individuals.⁴

FREE CARE VS. BAD DEBT - WHY IT MATTERS

Whether money owed for medical treatment is characterized as free care or bad debt generally is up to the hospital, but its decision makes an *enormous* difference to the uninsured or underinsured person. If the hospital classifies the services as free care, then the hospital does not pursue collection activities. If it's bad debt, then failure to pay almost certainly leads to collection efforts by the hospital or its collection agency. Medical debt – as will be described in more detail later – can have a significant impact on a family's health and finances. People who owe money to a hospital – or who fear incurring a debt they can't pay – often avoid seeking necessary care. And when a hospital bill goes to collection, things can escalate rapidly to the point where a credit rating is ruined, a paycheck is garnished, a bank account is seized, or a lien is placed on a home.⁵

The distinction between free care and bad debt also is a significant measure of institutional behavior. In the case of non profit hospitals, the amount of free care provided is one indicator of whether non profit status is justified. In the case of for-profit institutions, it's an important indicator of whether a hospital is socially responsible. Bad debt is a cost of doing business in any industry. In contrast, free care is tangible evidence of a hospital's commitment to the health and well-being of the community that supports it.

WHO NEEDS FREE CARE?

Free care is the ultimate safety net for many of the almost 44 million uninsured in the United States. ⁶ Of these, around 75% are in working families with incomes under 200% federal poverty level (FPL) – less than \$30,520 for a family of three.⁷ Many of the uninsured work for small employers and in service positions – jobs that are less likely to include health coverage.⁸ While it is possible for people to purchase coverage in the "non-group market," those premiums can be very expensive – ranging from \$3,000 to more than \$5,000 annually for an *individual*, depending on the person's age and whether there is pre-existing medical condition. Family coverage would be substantially higher.⁹ Moreover, not every state requires insurers to offer insurance to people with pre-existing conditions, so some people can't get coverage at any price. Even when an employer offers coverage, a substantial percentage of the low-income uninsured choose not to enroll: they can't afford the employee's share of the premium, which in 2003, averaged \$2,970 for the year for family coverage through a small business.¹⁰ As the number of people without insurance grows, so will the demand for free care. From 2001 to 2002 alone, the number of uninsured grew by 2.4 million. The primary factor behind the increase is an erosion in both adults' and children's private health insurance coverage, driven by the weak economy, rising unemployment, and the increasing cost of health care.¹¹ Because employment-based health insurance is the principal source of coverage for people under age 65 in the United States, the erosion is alarming. It's also a trend that is accelerating. In the last ten years, the percent of U.S. workers who have health insurance through their jobs has decreased from 63% to 45%.¹²

The most recent data also show that more middle-class families are losing their insurance coverage. The number of uninsured families with incomes under \$25,000 remained stable in 2002, but the number of uninsured in each higher category of household income *grew*. The biggest increase was in the \$25,000-to-\$50,000 category.¹³ These families are only slightly better equipped to pay hospital bills out of pocket than lower-income families. Thus, it's reasonable to expect that this trend will increase the demand for free or reduced-price care.

The need for free care falls disproportionately on minorities. Minorities are much more likely to be uninsured than white Americans. The rate of uninsurance for non-elderly Latinos, African Americans, Asian Americans (including Pacific Islanders), and Native Americans is higher than it is for whites. The problem is most acute for Latinos.¹⁴ The lack of readily accessible free care plays a role in the health disparities documented among racial and ethnic minority groups.

The number of uninsured would have been higher in the last two years if enrollment in public programs like Medicaid and the State Children's Health Insurance Program (SCHIP) had not grown.¹⁵ There is evidence, though, that growth in these programs is slowing as states are facing large budget deficits. A number of states have taken steps to limit eligibility or reduce benefits. Some states are also imposing cost-sharing on segments of the Medicaid population. Oregon, for example, now requires some recipients to pay a \$250 copayment for each hospitalization. Because Medicaid – and most SCHIP – recipients are, by definition, low-income, they have no alternative but to rely on free care when they lose coverage.

<u>Under</u>insurance is an increasingly common problem. A recent study found that low- and moderate-income individuals *with insurance* were struggling with levels of medical debt comparable to those of uninsured individuals.¹⁶ Faced with several years of double-digit increases in health insurance premiums, employers are shifting more of the cost to employees, not just in the form of increased premium contributions but also in deductibles, co-payments, and co-insurance amounts. In 2003, the average annual deductible for conventional coverage was \$785 – up from \$580 in 2000. The average co-payment for a hospital admission is \$202, and typical office co-payments have increased from \$10 to \$15 or more. Adding *only* the deductible to the average employee premium contribution, families paid close to \$4,000 out of pocket for their health care in 2003.¹⁷ The worst impact of these increases is felt by individuals and families who are both low-

income *and* suffer from serious or chronic health conditions. And that is the segment of the underinsured population that is most likely to need free care.

Certain insurance company practices leave people with high out-of-pocket expenditures.

Many insurance companies exclude coverage for treatment related to pre-existing medical conditions like cancer, diabetes, or high blood pressure. This means the covered person is responsible for any expenses the insurance company considers to be related to the condition. Other insurance policies may limit the number of "episodes" of medical treatment they will pay for. For example, some plans cover only a single mastectomy. If a tumor is found later in the second breast, the cost of treatment is not covered.¹⁸ Finally, many plans impose a lifetime limit on the amount of benefits they will pay. Lifetime caps, historically in the \$1 million range per individual, are being reduced, some to as little as \$300,000. Lower caps, in combination with rising health care costs, will mean that sicker individuals "max out" their policies more quickly and join the ranks of those who need free care.¹⁹

DEBUNKING THE MYTH OF ACCESS

Despite almost daily media coverage of the growing number of uninsured and underinsured in the United States, most believe that people have access to necessary medical care.²⁰ The reality is that access to care depends substantially on employment status, categorical and financial eligibility for public programs, and institutional benevolence. The traditional safety net providers – community health centers and public hospitals – are increasingly unable to meet the demand for free care. For one thing, not every community has a safety net provider. For another, too many of these institutions face increasing financial constraints – triggered in many cases by Medicaid managed care plans that siphon off Medicaid-covered patients and redirect them to private providers.²¹ Private hospitals – and non profit institutions, in particular – need to help fill the gaps that have been created by this market dislocation.

The need for hospital free care would be reduced if free and low-cost primary and preventive care services were more readily available, *but it would not be eliminated*. A

centerpiece of the current Administration's health care agenda is to increase the availability of primary and preventive services by expanding the capacity and number of community health centers – the principal site for delivery of these services to the uninsured. Few could argue with the importance of having accessible primary and preventive care, but this expansion is too limited in scope and in dollars to even make a dent in the broader access problem.²² Indeed, recent research shows that community health center physicians often are unable to get hospitals to agree to provide specialty or non-emergency hospital care for their uninsured patients.²³ This interruption in the continuum of care – and the medical consequences that flow from it – could be addressed if both inpatient and outpatient hospital free care were more readily available.

THE ILLUSION OF EMTALA

A significant contributing factor to the public perception that health needs are met is the federal Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act.²⁴ EMTALA was enacted to prevent hospitals from refusing to treat uninsured patients with medical emergencies by sending them to other – usually public – institutions. The law requires any hospital that participates in the Medicare program to provide a medical screening examination to anyone who comes to the emergency room and requests treatment. If the screening examination confirms that the person has an emergency medical condition, the hospital must provide the treatment necessary to stabilize the condition.

The hospital may *not* delay the screening examination or stabilizing treatment in order to find out whether the person has insurance coverage or is otherwise able to pay. But EMTALA *does not* protect the uninsured from hospital bills or collection efforts after the services have been provided.

Moreover, once the condition is stabilized, the hospital is under no obligation under EMTALA to provide further treatment if the patient is uninsured and can't otherwise pay. And hospitals have *no obligation* to treat nonemergency conditions if an individual doesn't have insurance or can't demonstrate an ability to pay. For example, a low-income, uninsured woman may need chemotherapy, but unless her condition meets the statutory definition of an emergency, EMTALA does not require the hospital to treat her. EMTALA - An "emergency medical condition" is defined as a medical condition manifesting itself by acute symptoms of sufficient severity, including severe pain, such that the absence of immediate medical attention could reasonably be expected to result in placing the health of the individual in serious jeopardy, serious impairment to bodily functions, or serious dysfunction of any bodily organ or part. 42 U.S. Code Section 1395dd(e)(1)

The requirements of EMTALA "...are not applicable to an inpatient who was admitted for elective (nonemergency) diagnosis or treatment." Federal regulations governing EMTALA, 42 CFR 489.24(d)(2)

THE LIMITATIONS OF PUBLIC PROGRAMS

The popular perception that people get the care they need is also attributable to a general lack of knowledge about the two largest public coverage programs, Medicare and Medicaid. Both programs have contributed enormously to public health and improved the quality of life for countless millions of Americans since their creation almost 40 years ago. But as good as they are, the programs have significant gaps.

Medicaid covers 47 million low-income and disabled Americans. Program costs are shared by the state and federal governments, with the federal government paying on average 57% of the cost of each state's program.²⁵ Medicaid is an "entitlement" program, which means that anyone who applies and meets the eligibility standards must be enrolled. To be eligible, a person must meet both categorical *and* financial requirements. The categories of people eligible for Medicaid coverage are low-income children and parents, the elderly, and the disabled. Financial eligibility requirements vary by state within certain federal guidelines. For example, federal guidelines *require* states to cover pregnant women and children below age 6 if family incomes are below 133% FPL. Most states, though, have raised that level to an average of 200% of FPL. In contrast, most states have adopted the federal income "floor" of 74% FPL for elderly and disabled individuals.²⁶ And except under very limited circumstances, Medicaid recipients must be American citizens.

The universe of low-income people who *aren't* **eligible for Medicaid is substantial.** The largest group are low-income, non-disabled adults with no children in the home. This is a significant gap because those individuals represent 62% of the adult uninsured population –about 35 million people.²⁷ In addition, almost 7 million low-income immigrants do not qualify.

The State Children's Health Insurance Program, (SCHIP) a joint state and federally financed program created by Congress in 1997, has made significant inroads in reducing the number of uninsured children. Where Medicaid coverage generally is limited to coverage of children under the age of 6, SCHIP generally covers children up to age 18, and it also raises income levels, in most cases to 200% FPL. In the wake of state budget crises, though, many states are tightening SCHIP eligibility standards or freezing enrollment. As a result, many more children may be needing free hospital care.

MEDICARE GAPS

Even the Medicare program has gaps that function as a barrier to hospital care for some elderly and disabled. While just about every American age 65 and older is covered by Medicare, many lower-income beneficiaries have substantial out-of-pocket expenses. For example, Medicare has a hospital deductible of \$860 for each benefit period; after the 60th day of a hospital stay, the cost rises to \$210 *per day*. Most Medicare beneficiaries have supplemental coverage – either purchased on their own or through a former employer – that covers these out-of-pocket expenses and caps the annual amount of personal liability. Still, a sizable number of beneficiaries cannot afford supplemental coverage.²⁸ It is this segment of the elderly population – those who are too poor to afford supplemental coverage but too rich to qualify for Medicaid – who are most likely to need free care to cover the Medicare hospital deductible and coinsurance expenses.

A WORD ABOUT THE FEDERAL Poverty Level

The perception that people get the care they need may also be attributable to a lack of knowledge about federal poverty level (FPL) guidelines.²⁹ The guidelines are also used primarily to determine eligibility for various "The nation's official poverty rate rose from 11.7 percent in 2001 to 12.1 percent in 2002..." U.S. Census Bureau press release, September 26, 2003.

public benefit programs, yet the FPL does not correlate very closely to the actual cost of living in most parts of the country. What does it mean, for example, to a family of three – a single parent with two young children – in Colorado with an income of \$30, 520 – or 200% FPL? The family income is too high for Medicaid, which caps eligibility at 185% FPL, or \$28,231. But it's well below \$39,923 which represents the "self-sufficiency standard" – that is, the income necessary for an individual or family to adequately meet basic needs without public or private assistance.³⁰ It's hard to imagine this family could pay for hospital care on its own, even with a substantial discount.

The relationship of this to free care is clear. While Medicaid, SCHIP, and Medicare represent a significant safety net for many, there are substantial gaps. As the scope of these public programs narrows further in response to state and federal tax cuts and the resulting fiscal pressures, *and* as the number of people living in poverty increases, the demand for free care will increase as well. In the absence of broad support and pressure for universal coverage, hospitals will need to be active participants in providing it.

THE IMPORTANCE OF FREE CARE

Free care is often the *only* safety net for uninsured and underinsured individuals and families. When free care is not easily accessible, individuals and communities both feel the consequences. And diagnoses of serious illness or disease among people without health coverage or access to free care are more likely to occur at later stages, when treatment is less likely to succeed. For example, death rates for "Uninsured patients were as likely as privately insured patients to receive intensive care but significantly less likely to have an operative procedure." "Acutely Injured Patients with Trauma in Massassachusets," - Hass and Goldman

uninsured women with breast cancer are significantly higher than those for women with insurance.³¹ Even when individuals break through the barriers and get hospital care, there is evidence that they receive less and poorer care than their counterparts who have insurance coverage or the means to pay. They are also more likely to die in the hospital than their counterparts.³²

Fear of medical debt causes people to avoid seeking medical care. The community monitoring and the accompanying research demonstrate that people will delay or avoid seeking care if they expect they will be charged. In addition, people who owe money to a facility often will avoid seeking care out of fear of being treated badly because of the debt.³³ Indeed, many providers now require cash deposits or payment up front. And other providers tell individuals without coverage to seek care elsewhere – typically at a public hospital.³⁴

When free care isn't readily available, people rely on emergency rooms, which are not optimal sites for care. Many people without health coverage know that if all else fails, they can go to an emergency room and receive a minimum level of treatment without having to prove they can pay. Emergency rooms are good for treating emergencies, but they leave something to be desired from a care perspective. Urgent medical problems may be addressed, but an emergency department allows little opportunity for coordination of care, follow up, or provider continuity. It is also the most expensive setting for delivering care, so people are more likely to accumulate substantial medical debt when they are treated there.³⁵

The lack of access to hospital free care can result in serious, lasting damage to the economic stability of individuals and families. Hospital billing, payment, and debt-collection practices too frequently lead to ruined credit ratings, liens and foreclosures on property, seizure of bank accounts, and bankruptcy. They can also compromise the ability to obtain basic necessities like food and shelter.

The uninsured are charged the highest prices for hospital care. The starting point for the downward trajectory set in motion by medical debt typically is the size of the hospital bill. Hospitals, like most businesses, have "list" prices – prices that reflect what the hospital charges in

the absence of any discount. These list prices – generally referred to as *charges* – have been described as "marketing fictions designed to allow a hospital to offer substantial 'discounts."³⁶ Virtually no one pays charges *except* people who have no insurance. Private third-party payers can negotiate discounts because they can guarantee hospitals a steady flow of patients. The federal and state governments – which set Medicare and Medicaid rates, respectively – can pretty much tell hospitals what they will pay, although they may use charges as a reference point. The only people who don't have anyone negotiating on their behalf are the uninsured.

The difference between what the uninsured are charged and the rates that are negotiated by third-party payers is substantial. A number of recent reports by different advocacy groups around the country provide a sense of the magnitude. In Cook County, Illinois, for example, uninsured patients were charged \$12,240 per hospital stay on average, compared with \$4,930 for patients with health coverage.³⁷ In the Los Angeles area, some uninsured individuals were charged almost *five* times what the hospitals accepted as payment in full from some health maintenance organizations.³⁸

The difference between what the uninsured are *charged* and what it *costs* the hospital to provide the services is also substantial. In the 1970s and '80s, hospital prices often were regulated, with limits on how much hospital charges could deviate from the actual cost of providing the service. The deregulation of hospital rates over the last decade has changed all that. In New York State, for example, rate regulation had prohibited hospitals from setting charges that were more than 30% above their costs. Now that rate regulation has been eliminated, charges average 87% above costs. In California, one of the nation's most competitive health care marketplaces, charges are now 178% above costs. In contrast, charges are only about 28% above cost in Maryland, the only state that still has rate regulation.³⁹ At least one state – Connecticut – has recognized the impact of the cost/charge differential on consumers: it now prohibits hospitals from collecting more than the *cost* of providing services from uninsured patients.⁴⁰

Current advocacy efforts to reduce the amount that hospitals charge the uninsured will lower the amount of medical debt incurred, but it is equally important to press hospitals to provide more free care. Using the Cook County example above, a bill for \$4,930 is certainly preferable to a bill for \$12,240. But the typical uninsured person – with an income under \$17,960, or 200% FPL – probably will have difficulty paying even the reduced amount. It would be preferable for that person not to be charged at all. At higher income levels, a reasonable approach would be to guarantee that the uninsured individual's payments do not exceed a modest percent of income.

Hospital concerns about Medicare fraud laws are unfounded. Hospitals say they can't charge the uninsured less than their list price or even routinely write off their bills because that would violate Medicare fraud laws.⁴¹ It is true that the Medicare program is obligated to ensure that hospitals and other providers do not routinely shift costs associated with non-Medicare patients to the program, and vice versa. This obligation has been broadly construed by the hospital industry to mean that hospitals may not discount fees for Medicare beneficiaries or uninsured

patients. Nor may they relax collection efforts for those patients. This is a misconception. Hospitals are explicitly permitted to waive or reduce fees based on a patient's income. There is no violation of law if a hospital has a policy – including eligibility criteria – for identifying people who can't pay their hospital bills *and* applying that policy uniformly to *all* needy patients.⁴²

Because they are billed at full charges, uninsured individuals start off at a disadvantage from a debt perspective. Hospital credit and collection policies and practices can – and do – make the situation worse. For example, the accommodation offered most frequently by hospitals to consumers who have trouble paying hospital bills are payment plans. Community monitors in all sites typically were told that hospital bills could not be waived or discounted, but the hospital might agree to let the individual pay the bill over time. In other studies, individuals reported pressure from hospital financial counselors to accept unaffordable payment terms. The counselors made little or no inquiry as to whether a person had the means to make even those payments.⁴³ It should be noted that even after payment plans were negotiated, respondents reported that they were still likely to be refused care or asked to pay cash up front because of their debt.⁴⁴

People who owe hospitals money, including those who fall behind in their payments, are at particular risk because the hospital industry has been stepping up its collection efforts. In response to government efforts to slow the rate of growth in Medicare and Medicaid hospital reimbursements, many hospitals have initiated – or increased – "revenue maximization" activities. A principal change has been to step up collection efforts.⁴⁵ And indeed, there is growing evidence that hospital collection practices are becoming more aggressive.⁴⁶ In one recent study of low-income individuals, 61% said that a collection agency had contacted them about medical debt.⁴⁷ Some reported daily calls and even visits by collection agents. In several cases, the tactics included the threat of jail. A study of *very*-low-income residents of Baltimore found that four out of five had been contacted by a collection agency, despite the fact that the average income of those surveyed was \$7,864 and the average debt was \$3,409 – *nearly half of the average income*.⁴⁸

A number of high-profile media stories about hospital debt collection practices have highlighted the issue. Yale-New Haven Hospital's practices recently came under scrutiny when it was reported that it routinely referred the unpaid accounts of uninsured patients to collection agents without making any effort to see if they needed financial assistance. This was the case despite the fact that the hospital had both a free care policy *and* a \$37 million "free bed" fund – money that donors had specified should be used to provide free care. If payment was slow, the collection agents would initiate court actions that resulted in wage garnishments, seizure of bank accounts, placement of liens on debtors' homes, and, in a number of cases, foreclosure proceedings.⁴⁹ In a disproportionate number of these collection actions, the individuals being sued *were eligible for free care under the hospital's own guidelines*. They had not been informed of their eligibility or otherwise assisted in making reasonable financial arrangements – a finding that was consistent with the experience of the community monitors.

Daisy Makeupson was being sued by Cincinnati's University Hospital for \$1159 - money she owed for a series of outpatient visits. Despite heart disease, high blood pressure, diabetes and arthritis, Mrs. Makeupson, who is 59, works 6 hours a week as a home health aide. The rest of the time she's caring for her disabled husband and 3 children in her custody. She doesn't qualify for Medicaid even though her income is below 200% of the federal poverty level, but she is eligible for free care at University Hospital. Instead here she was in court.

Her lawyer, Trey Daly, described the scene. "The courtroom was jammed with other people who owed money to University and some other hospitals. The hospitals' lawyer told us all to go out to the hall and talk to his paralegal.

"I looked around at the people waiting with us, and my guess was that many of them also had incomes low enough to qualify for free care. It made me mad, so I shouted 'Has anyone heard of the Hospital Care Assurance Program?' There were heads shaking no, so I explained that in Ohio, hospitals have to provide free care for people with incomes below 100% of the federal poverty level. I also told them that University has a program that covers people up to 200%. I had the federal poverty guidelines with me, and right away people started coming up to ask me where they fit."

Daly said "It made me angry that many of these people were being put through this process for something they had no control over. And maybe some of them were not going for medical care because they didn't want to owe the hospital more money. The point is that here was a group of people who probably were qualified for free care, but the hospitals had done nothing to help them apply, let alone tell them it was available. We might be able to help Mrs. Makeupson and some of the other people who were court today. Who's going to help the others that show up next week or next month in the same situation?"

The nation's two largest for-profit hospital chains – **Tenet and HCA** – **have also come under media scrutiny for engaging in practices similar to Yale-New Haven's.**⁵⁰ When it was publicized that they routinely charged self-pay patients the highest rates and utilized wage garnishment, seizure of bank accounts, and property liens, both chains agreed to modify their collection tactics with respect to low-income people. In its "Compact With Uninsured Patients," Tenet agreed to offer discounted rates to the uninsured, subject to their acceptance of "reasonable"

... payment plans." It also pledged not to pursue legal action for non-payment of bills against any patient who is unemployed or without significant income, and it stated it would not place liens on patients' homes if that were the only available recovery. HCA says it will provide full free care to patients with incomes up to 200% FPL for *non-elective services*, and it will discount the bills of those with incomes up to 400% FPL. It also modified its collection policy so that it will not place liens on primary homes worth less than \$300,000 or garnish wages of patients who have "a proven inability to pay."

Advocates will need to monitor implementation of these policies. For example, Tenet's Compact has no apparent provision for qualifying individuals for free care up front. Does this mean that relief will not be provided until a bill is in the collection process? And HCA indicates that financial relief is limited to *non-elective* treatment.⁵¹ This could mean that only emergency treatment – assuming the hospital has an emergency department – will be eligible for free or reduced-price care.

Most people with medical debt would pay it off if they could. Many report being ashamed that they owe money for medical treatment, even though they believe they have little control over the situation.⁵² Perhaps because of this embarrassment, consumers dig themselves even deeper into debt. Increasingly, hospitals and other providers encourage patients to use credit cards to pay for their care, and desperate patients are willing to comply. The provider is guaranteed payment and doesn't have to worry about collection – the credit card company handles that aspect. For the individual, though, credit-card debt carries a high rate of interest, and the debt grows quickly.⁵³ Property owners with medical debt also report taking out second mortgages or home equity loans to pay medical expenses.⁵⁴ Failure to meet the terms of the loan typically means loss of the home.

One of the most telling gauges of the impact of medical debt is the role it plays in families who file for bankruptcy. While the typical view of bankruptcy is that it provides an opportunity for a fresh start, more typically it is the "ultimate declaration of financial collapse for middle-class Americans."⁵⁵ A recent survey of middle-class families who filed for bankruptcy in 1999 in eight jurisdictions across the country found that one third – almost 435,000 families – had substantial medical bills not covered by insurance in the prior two years.⁵⁶ The idea of a "fresh start" is meaningless to people with serious and chronic health problems. Their medical debt will start to grow all over again in the absence of a change in circumstances – such as a job with comprehensive health benefits or access to free or discounted medical care.

As the community monitors discovered – and as other studies and media stories confirm – many hospitals make it difficult for people to find out about free care. Community monitors saw few signs or other written information about free care. Moreover, front-line staff typically had no information about the availability of free care or how people could find out about it. In the Yale-New Haven report, the majority of debtors interviewed said they were unaware the hospital had a free care program, and a few had specifically asked whether free care was available. These experiences were consistent with the finding of a survey of almost 7,000 uninsured individuals in 18 states. Nearly half of the respondents reported that they were never offered assistance with their medical bills.⁵⁷

One problem that arises when hospitals don't adhere to uniform standards is that the burden of the uninsured falls disproportionately on certain hospitals. Physical location clearly is a factor. Hospitals in urban centers and those in poorer rural areas see far more Medicaid recipients and uninsured patients than hospitals in affluent suburbs. Reputation may also be a factor, though. Some of the citizen monitors noted that in places served by several hospitals, those hospitals often

have very different reputations among community members - based on factors such as how respectfully they treat the uninsured, and how aggressive they are in their collection activities.⁵⁸ Those with good reputations in these regards are more likely to see greater numbers of people who need free care. Thus hospitals that are" doing the right thing" are more likely to find themselves in financially vulnerable situations when the burden is not shared equitably among all hospitals in an area.

There may be financial incentives for hospitals to pursue collection rather than qualify people for free care. When a bill is considered uncollectible, hospitals typically write it off as bad debt. If the bad debt is attributable to someone on Medicare, the amount written off usually can be considered in Medicare's calculation of the hospital's reimbursement if the hospital has made "reasonable collection efforts." And Medicare explicitly permits hospitals to use collection agencies and court actions to obtain payment.⁵⁹ In contrast, free care is not reimbursable by Medicare.⁶⁰ Thus, it may be more financially advantageous for a hospital to be aggressive in its collection activity than to provide free care to a Medicare beneficiary. In several states, including Connecticut, New York, and California, the write-off of a patient debt can also trigger payments to hospitals from special funds used to reimburse hospital provides is a factor in calculating a hospital's payment from these funds, but characterizing money owed as bad debt may be more advantageous financially, because nothing prevents the hospital from continuing collection efforts *even after it has written a bill off*. A hospital can, in effect, "double dip" by collecting from a patient even after it has used the write-off to maximize these special payments.⁶¹

In many instances, the lack of information about free care is an oversight, rather than a deliberate strategy to discourage uninsured people from seeking free services. This is evidenced by the response of some hospital officials to the community monitoring reports. In most cases hospital leadership believed that policies were in place and they were unaware of what people were actually experiencing when they sought free care. Indeed, the American Hospital Association recently issued a member advisory in response to media stories about hospital collection practices suggesting that hospitals perform an "audit" of their free care and collection policies and ensure that staff and governing board are familiar with them.⁶² In other cases, though, the practice of withholding information about the availability of free care may be an intentional strategy to limit the amount of free care the hospital provides.

"The record in the case shows that such free service as did exist was deliberately not advertised out of fear of a 'deluge of people' trying to take advantage of it. Instead, every effort was made to recover payment for services rendered. Utah Valley Hospital even offered assistance to patients who claimed inability to pay to enter into bank loan agreements to finance their hospital expenses." From the decision in County Board of Equalization of Utah County v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 709 P.2d 265, 274, (1985), a challenge to a hospital system's tax exempt status under state law.

Would offers of assistance in paying hospital bills make a difference to those mired in medical debt? In a word, yes. The more often medical facility staff offer to find out about financial assistance, the less likely respondents are to be in debt to the facility.⁶³ A recent Massachusetts study found that, in many cases, the patients who were responsible for hospital bad debt are of low enough income that they would have been eligible for free care or for enrollment in a public program if they had been screened appropriately.⁶⁴ Hospital failure to screen means a lost opportunity to qualify a person for a public program that would ensure reimbursement for services rendered. Moreover, determining eligibility for free care early in the process would save the hospital the administrative costs of trying to collect from a person with few, if any, resources.

THE COMMUNITY IMPACT WHEN FREE CARE IS HARD TO FIND

When people can't get free hospital care, the health of the entire community is placed in jeopardy.⁶⁵ If people avoid seeking care because they can't pay for it, there is a danger that disease prevention and surveillance programs will miss a critical mass of individuals. If an infectious disease is involved, the potential for a public health problem is magnified. For example, 20 percent of individuals with HIV do not have health insurance. Many with the disease may also be unaware that they have it because they don't seek care, which increases the chance of transmission.⁶⁶ The risk of transmission presumably would be reduced if people knew they could go to a hospital clinic for diagnostic testing and treatment for free or at a reduced rate.

The unavailability of free care also affects the broader community through the impact on emergency room use. Hospital emergency rooms are required by federal – and in some cases, state – law to provide medical screenings to anyone with an emergency, and to stabilize any emergency condition, *without* requiring the individual to demonstrate proof of ability to pay. Thus, people who are sick but have no other options are likely to show up at emergency rooms even with routine medical problems. The overcrowding that results means that everyone – regardless of insurance status – must wait longer for care. It also creates the risk of ambulance diversion from the nearest emergency facility, with potentially disastrous consequences. If hospitals offered free or reduced-cost outpatient care, or alternatively, if they supported local primary care networks to provide free care, emergency room use would be reduced, and the entire community would benefit.

TRACKING HOSPITALS' FREE CARE PERFORMANCE

Assessing how much free care hospitals actually provide is not easy. The principal focus of the Free Care Monitoring Project is how difficult it is for consumers to get information about free care, but assessing how much free care hospitals actually provide is a much more difficult undertaking. One reason is that the right data is not always readily accessible or easily interpreted. Like most businesses, hospitals submit to annual audits. Generally accepted auditing and accounting principles require hospitals to report bad debt and free care separately.⁶⁷ A number of states require hospitals to file audited financial statements annually with a designated state agency, which makes the statements available to the public.⁶⁸ But even when these audits are available, a person needs a degree of expertise in hospital finance to develop an accurate picture from the

statements of how much free care a hospital provides in relation to its overall financial picture.

Some states also require hospitals to provide information to the public on the community benefits they provide as the quid pro quo for their tax-exempt status.⁶⁹ This community benefit obligation will be described in more detail later, but the important thing to note here is that different states utilize different definitions. Some allow hospitals to lump free care, bad debt, and hospital-calculated losses on Medicaid and Medicare business together and report it as "uncompensated care." Only a few states require hospitals to report free care exclusive of bad debt. Thus, even in states that explicitly recognize a hospital community benefit obligation, it can be difficult for the public to assess institutional commitment to serving all members of the community.

Most public reporting of hospital data is done through hospital industry associations, and they rarely differentiate between free care and bad debt when publishing financial data. Instead, they use the terms "uncompensated care" - or "unsponsored care" - which is the sum of free care and bad debt.⁷⁰ From the industry perspective, a principal function of reporting such data is public relations - whether to generate broad public support or to influence legislators and regulators. Thus, the industry prefers to report the uncompensated care figure, no doubt in part because it is a much bigger number.

Using industry-reported uncompensated care - or even free care - data as a yardstick for assessing institutional commitment to vulnerable populations is complicated by the fact that it typically reflects hospital *charges* for the care, rather than the *cost* of providing that care.⁷¹ As was described earlier, hospital charges are substantially higher than hospital costs. Thus, reporting uncompensated care figures using charges is somewhat misleading. It results in a much higher figure, complicating efforts to assess the level of hospital commitment to the community.

Some non profit hospitals provide detailed descriptions of their community benefit activities on the annual, publicly available filing they make with the Internal Revenue Service -the Form 990. These descriptions sometimes include dollar amounts related to free care, but there is no requirement to include this data. Nor are there uniform definitions or a standard reporting format. While Form 990 may provide a good starting point for assessing community benefit performance, more inquiry usually is required.

A fair amount of research has been done on the hospital industry's uncompensated care performance, using uncompensated care as a proxy for free care. A smaller body of research focuses on hospital free care performance. The issue has been studied in a number of different contexts, including the conversion of public and non profit hospitals to for-profit entities, and the delivery of community benefits. Generally, the research suggests that while many hospitals provide a significant amount of uncompensated and free care, many provide very little. Among the findings are these:

- The percent of total hospital expenditures attributed to uncompensated care has remained relatively constant over the last decade.⁷²
- Relatively few hospitals provide the bulk of free care.⁷³
- ➡ Teaching hospitals, as a group, provide higher levels of free care than community hospitals.⁷⁴
- A hospital's free care performance is tied to the level of poverty in the community less poverty results in less provision of free care.⁷⁵
- ➡ The amount of community benefits (e.g. free care, research, teaching, illness prevention and health promotion activities) provided by non profit hospitals appears to fall short of the level that would justify tax-exempt status.⁷⁶

THE FREE CARE OBLIGATION

The expectation that private hospitals will provide some level of free care arises from several different but equally important sources.

- ⇒ Tax-exempt status: All non-profit hospitals have certain community benefit obligations related to their federal tax-exempt status. The provision of free care is considered an important indicator of how well they are satisfying those obligations. Some states have also imposed explicit community benefit requirements on non-profit hospitals.
- Statutory or regulatory requirements: The majority of states address the provision of free care in either a statute or regulation. The approach to providing and financing free care varies widely. The existence of these provisions constitutes a public acknowledgment that government needs to address the gaps in access to health care, even if only in a limited way.
- ⇒ "Earmarked" funds: Many hospitals receive funds that are intended to reimburse them in part for free care they provide. These include public funds paid through the Medicaid and Medicare programs for hospitals that serve large numbers of Medicaid and Medicare beneficiaries and low-income uninsured. They also include Medicare funds that are paid to teaching hospitals for expenses related to training new physicians. In addition, many hospitals receive contributions from donors who direct that they be used specifically for free care.
- ⇒ Corporate social responsibility: There is a broad although less well-defined obligation attached to both non profit and for-profit corporations to behave in a socially responsible fashion. Addressing pressing community health needs including providing free care to at least some low-income people is an appropriate example of socially responsible behavior.

TAX-EXEMPT STATUS

Despite the evolution to a market-based health care system, most U.S. hospitals are still non profit institutions. To be non profit means, among other things, to be exempt from most federal, state, and local income, sales, property, and excise taxes. But those are not the only benefits. Others include:

- Access to tax-exempt financing of capital projects, which represents a substantial savings over financing they would otherwise have to obtain from commercial lenders;
- \Rightarrow Access to federal loans and research grants;
- ⇒ Limits on tort liability in many jurisdictions; and
- \Rightarrow Access to donations that are tax-deductible for the donor.

Moreover, in contrast to for-profit hospitals which must return value to shareholders, non-profit institutions use any excess revenue solely to reinvest in their buildings and operations, medical education, training, and research. Hospital access to low-cost financing and research funds has helped many institutions achieve national stature as centers of cutting-edge research and treatment. Moreover, the public perception that non profit hospitals are mission-driven – as opposed to profit-driven – institutions engenders a degree a community trust and general goodwill that eludes many for-profit hospitals.

So what is – or should be – expected of hospitals in exchange for these very substantial benefits? They are expected to operate in ways that benefit the broader community – not just those individuals who are patients.⁷⁷ The concept of a hospital community benefit obligation was initially developed is a federal law.⁷⁸ Now a number of states require non profit hospitals to acknowledge a community benefit obligation and to report on community benefit activities. There may also be local expectations that hospitals will "give back" to their communities. Yet even where there are no explicit requirements, the obligation exists because the hospital reaps substantial benefits from its tax-exempt status.

What kinds of activities satisfy a hospital's community benefit obligation? Although the health care environment – like the role of hospitals within that environment – has evolved over the years, the Internal Revenue Service continues to view the provision of free care as a significant indicator that a hospital is meeting its federal community benefit obligation.⁷⁹ The IRS also has identified an array of other activities that can be characterized as community benefits, including: the operation of an active and accessible emergency room; an open hospital admission policy with respect to Medicare and Medicaid patients; a medical staff open to physicians practicing in the community; and a board of directors drawn from the community.

The IRS has also made it clear that when it assesses community benefits as part of a hospital audit to determine if tax-exempt status is still justified, the institution must be prepared to demonstrate that the benefits it claims to provide are not illusory. If, for example, a hospital claims that it provides free care, it has to do more than produce its free care

policies; it must be prepared to demonstrate that it has actually delivered free care in accordance with those policies.⁸⁰ Moreover, even though the IRS has not specified what level of free care a hospital needs to provide or under what circumstances it should be provided, it has suggested that this must be more than a token amount.⁸¹ To this end, the IRS has developed a set of questions for use by its field examiners when they audit hospitals that claim to provide free care as a community benefit. Some of those questions are:

- ⇒ Does the hospital have a specific, written plan or policy to provide free or low-cost health care services to the poor or indigent?
- ➡ Under what circumstances may, or has, the hospital deviated from its stated policies on providing free or low-cost health care services to the poor or indigent?
- \Rightarrow Does the hospital broadcast the terms and conditions of its charity care policy to the public?
- ⇒ What documents or agreements does the hospital require poor or indigent patients to sign before receiving care?
- Does the hospital maintain a separate account on its books that segregates the costs of providing free or reduced-cost care to the poor or indigent? Does this account include any other items, such as write-offs for care to patients who were not poor or indigent?⁸²

If a hospital qualifies for tax-exempt status at the federal level, states and cities or towns generally follow suit and grant their own exemptions, <u>but they are not required to do so.</u>

- ➡ Local property tax exemptions constitute 43% of tax-exempt value.
- State sales and income taxes constitute 30% of tax-exempt value (24% is sales tax, and 6% is income tax).
- ➡ Federal income taxes constitute 27% of tax-exampt value.⁸⁴

Standard local expectations of tax-exempt hospitals are evolving. Formally, these taxing authorities seemed to be satisfied that if a hospital complied with federal requirements, then state and local tax exemption was also justified.⁸³ More recently, cash-strapped states and municipalities have begun scrutinizing hospital expenditures and service delivery decisions to determine whether the exemption continues to be justified. Indeed, when an institution receives tax-exempt status, most of the tax burden shifts to the state and to the city or town that would otherwise collect the property tax.

One sign of the trend to scrutinize tax

exemptions more closely has been the adoption, in at least 15 states, of community benefit laws, regulations, or voluntary guidelines.⁸⁵ While these vary considerably, the most consistent elements are: 1.) requirements that hospitals file regular reports with state oversight authorities on community benefit programs and expenditures, and 2.) that they undertake community benefit planning processes that include consultation with their communities on critical health needs.⁸⁶ The community participation requirement is based on the notion that community members are better equipped than hospitals to identify local health needs that can be addressed with community benefits. In addition, the community is the entity that contributes the biggest

portion of the hospital's tax-exemption dividend, so it is appropriate for it to play a significant role in determining the use of that dividend.

Some community benefit laws provide examples of the types of activities or services that would be considered community benefits; free care generally is included. A number of states also require hospitals to include the amount of free care they have provided during the relevant reporting period in their filings. A few laws are fairly prescriptive and actually specify minimum expenditures for hospital community benefit programs (e.g. Utah, Pennsylvania, Texas). For example, Texas - with the most prescriptive law - even specifies a minimum expenditure for free care.⁸⁷ Utah requires non-profit hospitals to "provide gifts to the community in excess of [the hospital's] annual property tax liability."⁸⁸

Two associations of non profit hospitals - the Catholic Hospital Association and the Voluntary Hospital Association - have developed community benefit standards to serve as a guide to their members in fulfilling their community service missions and justifying their tax exemptions. Both sets of guidelines clearly view free care as an appropriate community benefit, and they envision a degree of transparency in the provision of free care. The community monitoring results suggest, though, that transparency has not been fully embraced by many hospitals.

What is tax exemption worth? Several health policy experts have developed frameworks for quantifying the value of tax exemption to measure non profit institutional performance.⁸⁹ Ideally, the value would equal the total worth attached to each tangible and intangible benefit of tax exemption, including:

The Voluntary Hospital Association guidelines recommend that member institutions:

- ➡ "Formally plan for and provide charity care or maintain an open-door policy to the extent of financial ability, and
- ➡ "Publicly disclose information about the health care organization's services, financial status, community benefit activities and charity care."

The Catholic Hospital Association has developed the "Social Accountability Budget" - a process for planning and reporting on community benefits. This budget assumes that all member hospitals provide free services to the poor as a key component of their mission. It is both a framework and a tool for helping institutions capture the value of those services, along with the value of all other community benefits, for purposes of both internal and external (i.e. public) evaluation of hospital performance.

- ⇒ The taxes that otherwise would have to be paid (e.g. income, real estate, sales);
- The difference between the cost of obtaining financing in the commercial market and taxexempt financing;
- \Rightarrow The amount of tax-exempt donations;
- \Rightarrow The value of any limit on tort liability; and
- \Rightarrow The value of the good will attached to tax-exempt status.

Depending on the location and size of the hospital, the value of tax-exempt status could be worth many millions of dollars. Yet this piece of data seems to have been the subject of little focused inquiry at the state or local level, except in communities that have negotiated "payments in lieu of taxes" agreements with local non profit institutions. When Texas and Massachusetts developed their community benefit law and guidelines, they identified the value of the tax-exempt benefits as an option that hospitals could use in establishing or measuring their community benefit expenditure level. Virtually no hospital chose that option.⁹⁰ Part of the reason may be that there is no easy way to quantify some of the less tangible benefits, but another reason may be that there is little motivation on the part of many hospitals – or the industry in general – to do that calculation, because the resulting figure could be substantial. Some of the data – such as property tax information – are more concrete and accessible. It should be possible for communities or regulators to develop those figures and use them as a baseline, with the understanding that they represent a significant understatement of the dollar benefit of tax exemption.

STATUTORY OR REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Almost all states and some counties have statutory or regulatory provisions that address the availability of free care. As with community benefit laws, there is considerable variation among the approaches. Not all of the provisions impose an explicit obligation on hospitals, but it is clear from the various provisions that states understand that access to hospital care for the uninsured is a problem that needs to be addressed. Community benefit obligations have already been discussed in the context of tax-exempt status. Other approaches include the following:

- ➡ Uncompensated care pools or other funds that are earmarked specifically to reimburse hospitals for the costs of providing free care;
- ⇒ Free care obligations attached to the "certificate of need" process;
- ➡ Obligations that are imposed on hospitals that are converting from non profit to for-profit status;
- ⇒ "Loans" of public dollars; and
- \Rightarrow Obligations that are imposed on hospitals as a condition of licensure.

A companion piece to this report – a 50-state compendium of free care laws – provides more detail on each state. A few representative examples are described briefly here to demonstrate the

spectrum of approaches.

Massassachusetts

Massachusetts finances free care through an uncompensated care pool. Pool funding is a shared obligation of the individual hospitals, private third-party payers, and the state. Pool revenues come from a uniform surcharge on hospital patient care revenues, a uniform surcharge on private payers' inpatient hospital expenditures, and a contribution from the state. The pool redistributes funds to hospitals to cover the costs of income-eligible patients.

The pool was adopted as a way of "leveling the free care playing field." Its goals are:

- ⇒ To improve the financial condition of hospitals with high uninsured care loads;
- ⇒ To ensure more equitably funded uncompensated care; and
- ➡ To improve access for the uninsured by removing disincentives for hospitals private hospitals, in particular to treat uninsured patients.⁹¹

Uninsured – and underinsured – individuals with incomes up to 200% FPL who are not eligible for any public coverage program are eligible for full free care for hospital inpatient and outpatient services. Those with incomes up to 400% FPL are eligible for partial free care based on their income. People above 400% FPL with catastrophic medical bills are also eligible for partial free care. Hospitals are required to broadly publicize the availability of free care and to assist people in the application process.

Idaho

Idaho's County Medical Indigency Care Program essentially "loans" money to low-income people, securing the loan through the automatic attachment of a lien on all of the individual's real and personal property. Program applicants need to provide detailed information on their medical conditions and the medical services they need, in addition to providing extensive information and documentation on income, assets, and household expenses. County clerks make the initial determination on the applications, then submit these to county boards for review. If an application is approved, the county will not pay more than \$10,000 toward an individual's bill in any consecutive 12-month period. The county board sets the repayment schedule. If the individual falls behind, the county can go to court and force the sale of the real estate or personal property to satisfy the lien.⁹²

Washington State

As a condition of licensure, Washington requires hospitals to provide full free care to individuals with incomes at or below 100% FPL and discounts from charges to individuals with incomes between 100% and 200% FPL. Hospitals are required to prominently display their policies within public areas of the hospital. In addition, when the state is deciding whether to issue a certificate of need to a hospital, one factor is whether the hospital "meets or exceeds the regional average level of charity care."⁹³

Rhode Island

As a condition of licensure, Rhode Island requires hospitals to meet a statewide "community standard" for the provision of charity care services. The department of health reviews each hospital's charity care performance annually. Rhode Island law also provides that when a non profit hospital converts to for-profit status, the parties to the conversion must describe how the new hospital will provide community benefits and charity care during its first five years of operation.⁹⁴

San Francisco

Hospitals in the City of San Francisco and San Francisco County must notify patients of their charity care policies and file annual reports with the local department of health. Hospitals are required to inform patients of their charity care policies both orally and in writing, and they must post clearly visible signs in multiple locations throughout the hospital. Annual hospital charity care reports must include such data as the amount of charity care provided, the number of individuals who applied, the number who received it, and the type of services (e.g. emergency, inpatient, outpatient, ancillary) that were provided to free care patients. The data are used, among other things, to ensure that hospitals do not "dump" uninsured patients, and to inform the local health planning process by documenting the need for free care.⁹⁵

The Hill-Burton Act

A few hospitals across the country continue to have obligations to provide free care pursuant to the *federal* Hill-Burton Act.⁹⁶ The 1946 Act was a massive construction program that made grants to hospitals to modernize their facilities. In exchange, the act required hospitals to provide "a reasonable volume" of services to people unable to pay. The obligation was to last for 20 years from the date of the grant, or until the amount of free or reduced-price care provided by the facility equaled the amount of the grant funds, whichever was longer. For years, Hill-Burton funds provided a significant safety net to low-income people, although they were also the frequent subject of litigation by poverty law advocates trying to enforce provisions of the law. Hill-Burton funds have not been distributed since 1975, but a few hospitals have residual obligations under the program.⁹⁷ Facilities that received funds under Title XVI of the Public Health Service Act, a successor to the Hill-Burton program, must provide uncompensated services in perpetuity.⁹⁸ While most of these facilities are community health centers, some hospitals are subject to this obligation. As with residual Hill-Burton obligations, there doesn't appear to be active enforcement. The burden of identifying, and pressing institutions to honor, these obligations generally fall on advocates.

"EARMARKED" FUNDS

Hospitals receive substantial funds that are specifically intended to offset part of the costs they incur in providing uncompensated care. Sources of public dollars include such things as the

uncompensated care pools some states have created, the Medicaid and Medicare "disproportionate share hospital" (DSH) programs, and, in the case of teaching hospitals, graduate medical education funding through the Medicare program. Private sources include grants and donations. These payments typically are not associated with specific patients but rather are intended to defray the overall costs hospitals incur in providing care to the uninsured. Not all hospitals receive funds from all of these sources, and those that do receive them in varying amounts. The critical point, though, is that only in limited cases are hospitals required to have free care policies and procedures in place as a condition of receiving these funds. And when they publicly report the

"Yale-New Haven Hospital is counting taxpayer funding state reimbursements, for example - as part of its supposed \$52 million in free care...The hospital fails to mention that at least \$14 million of the \$52 million was reimbursed through ...the disproportionate share payment program." Connecticut Attorney General Richard Blumenthal, February 28, 2003

amount of uncompensated care they provide, that figure does not reflect any offset to reflect receipt of the funds.

There are no legal constraints on the ability of federal or state governments to require hospitals to meet free care performance standards as a condition of receipt of these types of public funds. Masschusetts has chosen to put such standards into place. In contrast, New York State, which also has an uncompensated care pool, imposes no obligation on hospitals to provide free care. With respect to Medicaid DSH funds, states design their own programs for distribution of DSH dollars within broad federal guidelines, and they can attach conditions to those payments if they want to.⁹⁹ Ohio, for example, requires hospitals that receive DSH funds to provide free care to people with incomes at or below 100% FPL.¹⁰⁰ Georgia also uses its DSH funds to promote free care and access for low-income uninsured people. To receive such reimbursement, a Georgia hospital must agree to provide free care without charge to individuals with incomes below 125% FPL.¹⁰¹ These two states appear to be exceptions though.

Private philanthropic funds represent an increasingly small source of hospital revenues generally about 1-3%.¹⁰² Nevertheless, donors often specify that contributions to be used to assist the uninsured. Depending on the hospital, those "free bed funds" can represent a significant amount of money. Yale-New Haven Hospital, for example, has \$37 million in such funds.¹⁰³ The challenge for regulators and communities may be to ensure that the funds are used for their intended purpose rather than just absorbed to cover hospitals' general operating expenses.

Hospitals are by far the biggest beneficiaries of the public dollars earmarked for care of the uninsured even though they only deliver about two-thirds of the uncompensated care.¹⁰⁴ Moreover, some research suggests that the aggregate amount of the public and private

funds available for care of the uninsured exceeds the aggregate amount of uncompensated care provided by hospitals.¹⁰⁵ The funds may be poorly targeted in that they may not be reaching the hospitals that provide the most free care. They might also be better deployed to provide insurance coverage for the uninsured. At a minimum though, their distribution should be conditioned on the recipients' agreement to provide free care consistent with standards that ensure access.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Although this report focuses on non profit hospitals, for-profit hospitals also have an obligation to provide some amount of free care as an exercise of their corporate social responsibility. In order to operate, corporate entities must obtain a charter – which essentially amounts to public permission to engage in business. Increasingly, that permission carries with it certain public expectations with respect to the corporation's legal, ethical, and commercial behavior.¹⁰⁰ While this notion applies broadly to all businesses, health care is different because it is an essential service. When provision of an essential service is left to the marketplace, there is a special obligation on all providers to address the inevitable gaps.¹⁰⁶

When the market has failed to respond appropriately, government has shown that it will step in and impose obligations on non profit and for-profit entities alike. In the health context, Congress passed the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act to address patient dumping. The law applies to all hospitals that participate in the Medicare program, regardless of whether they are for-profit or non profit. In recognition of the essential nature of health care, Congress has also imposed certain obligations on health insurers – both for-profit and non-profit – to ensure that individuals maintain their access to coverage. The Consolidated Omnibus Budget and Reconciliation Act of 1986 ("COBRA") imposes a requirement on employers and insurers to extend employment-based coverage to certain former employees and their families. The 1996 Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA") imposes an obligation on all insurers to provide continued coverage for workers in transition. In addition, a number of states have enacted small-group and non-group insurance reforms that, among other things, eliminate health-related barriers to coverage. These reforms apply equally to for-profit and non profit insurers.

Other industries that provide "essential services" historically have been obligated to operate in ways that serve the broader community, even though such obligations may make those services less profitable or add a degree of business risk. For example, the federal Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) requires banks to meet the credit needs of the communities within which they are chartered to operate.¹⁰⁷ Congressional intent in enacting the CRA was to encourage banks to invest in neighborhoods that they historically had ignored. Bank investment practices were widely viewed as contributing to urban decay and diminished quality-of-life issues in inner-city communities. An analogy to the health care context is that a failure to provide at least some reasonable amount of free care contributes to a degradation of the public health.

Utility companies historically have had a "duty to serve" – that is, a duty to provide service even where and when it may not be profitable. Examples are a duty to provide continuous, reliable service even in rural areas; a duty to provide advanced notice of service disconnection; and a duty, in some cases, to continue service even when a customer cannot make full payment.¹⁰⁸ Although these obligations arose in a context in which utility companies exercised monopoly power, states that have deregulated the industry generally have indicated an intent to retain basic service obligations.

The consistent theme is that government needs to intervene when there is a threat that individuals will be shut out of the market for certain essential services. This is true even if providing the service poses a degree of business risk. With regard to access to health care, we are faced with mounting evidence that reliance on the market is ineffective in controlling health care cost, quality, and access. The more than 43 million people lacking health insurance in the United States are ample evidence that the market does not work for large numbers of people. In response, policymakers in some states have imposed free care obligations on non profit and for-profit institutions alike.¹⁰⁹ This is an approach that should be broadly replicated.

Part IV: Recommendations

There is a clear and growing need to improve access to hospital free care. The number of people who don't qualify for – or are losing – health coverage increases every day. The current health care safety net is not equipped to handle the demand. Nor is the safety net generally a comprehensive or broadly accessible system of care. While hospitals cannot – and should not – be expected to function as the sole solution to the access problem, the community survey results suggest they could be doing much more to help those who have no other options.

As a first step, hospitals should be required to have free care policies that meet the following minimum standards:

- ⇒ Provisions for full free care for the uninsured or underinsured up to an income level that reflects the cost of living in the area served by the hospital, but not less than 200% FPL;
- ⇒ Provisions for partial free care for the uninsured or underinsured whose income is between the limit for full free care and an upper limit that should not be less than 400% FPL;
- ⇒ Provisions for free care for those whose income *exceeds* the upper limit for partial free care but whose medical expenses have depleted individual or family income and resources to the point that they cannot pay for medically necessary services;
- ⇒ Provisions that individual or family liability for partial free care and medical hardship assistance be based on family income and *not* solely on a reduction of the amount charged;
- A definition of "free care" that includes any medically necessary service, whether delivered on an inpatient or outpatient basis, and any medically necessary prescription drug;
- A requirement that hospitals assist uninsured and underinsured patients in applying for public coverage programs (e.g. Medicaid, SCHIP, Medicare);
- A requirement that hospitals broadcast the availability of free care both inside their own institution and to the broader community;
- \Rightarrow A free care application process that is as simple and as "applicant friendly" as possible;
- A requirement that hospital governing boards review and approve all collection policies, and a requirement that board authorization be obtained before the initiation of certain collection actions, including foreclosures, property liens, and wage garnishments;
- A provision for allowing patients to enter into reasonable payment plans, and limiting any interest on those payment plans to the lesser of 5% per year or the Consumer Price Index; and
- A requirement that hospitals file annual reports with a public agency that include the amount of free care, separate and distinct from bad debt, provided over the prior year, as well as other data that permit the public and the appropriate regulators to assess and compare local hospitals' free care performance.

Approaches to implementing these minimum standards range from voluntary hospital agreements at one end of the spectrum, to enactment of legislation at the other. Local and state policy environments will dictate what is feasible in any particular community. What follow are a number of recommendations for ensuring that the standards are adopted.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

Use local "permitting" authority to encourage hospital adoption of free care performance standards. Local government usually is the issuing authority for a range of licenses and permits most hospitals need to operate, including such things as building and zoning permits. Local authorities should consider encouraging hospitals to adopt – or improve on– the standards set out above as part of the permitting process. This may be particularly appropriate if the permit involves hospital building or expansion in an area with a concentration of low-income people. Given the fact, however, that the loss of insurance increasing cuts across socioeconomic levels, it would be appropriate to condition approval regardless of location.

Consider approaching hospitals for payments in lieu of taxes as a negotiation tool to win assurances around free care. The largest portion of the value of tax exemption is attributable to local property tax, a substantial point of leverage if local authorities choose to use it. An alternative to a demand for payment in lieu of taxes could be an agreement by the hospital to adopt the free care standards set out above.

Intervene in hospital efforts to obtain tax-exempt financing and certificates of need. A number of states make tax-exempt bond financing available to non profit health and educational institutions. They also require hospitals to obtain "certificates of need" when they want to expand their services or physical plant. Usually there is an opportunity for public input in these processes. Local government has an interest in the outcome of these processes. Thus it could request that issuance of bonds or a certificate of need be conditioned on hospital adoption of free care standards.

STATE GOVERNMENT

Enforce existing requirements. In states that have statutes or other requirements that address the provision of hospital free care, the appropriate oversight agency should enforce those requirements and use any available tools to ensure compliance.

Use the authority to license hospitals as a basis for requiring adoption of free care policies and for monitoring free care performance. As the entities that issue hospitals their licenses to operate, states have significant power to establish standards hospitals must meet as a condition of receiving and maintaining licensure. States should use this authority to ensure access to hospital care.

Be strategic in the distribution of Medicaid disproportionate share hospital (DSH) funds.

States should use DSH monies to provide incentives for improvements in hospital free care policies. Hospitals that provide the largest amounts of free care should be the main beneficiaries of those funds. States should also consider using some of those funds to support access to primary and preventive care, heading off the need for some hospital free care.

Condition state approval processes on free care performance. State regulatory processes should consider free care performance as a factor in evaluating requests for such things as certificates of need and tax-exempt bonds. If necessary, state officials should strengthen state laws, regulations and requirements for these approvals to ensure that free care performance is a consideration.

Enact legislation that incorporates the standards. Some communities have found that voluntary efforts require too much vigilance. While the hospitals may mean well, free care efforts cease to be a priority in the absence of ongoing public scrutiny. A mandate actively enforced by the state may be preferable. Legislation should include both appropriate sanctions for hospitals that do not meet the standard and funding to allow the appropriate state agency to enforce the law.

COMMUNITIES

Learn the local terrain. Communities should undertake "audits" to: (1) understand local hospitals' free care policies and their credit and collection practices; and (2) explore the impact of those policies both on individuals with unpaid bills and on the broader community. For example, is medical debt affecting home ownership or family stability? Is there a need for better financial counseling by hospitals? Should communities and hospitals work together to bring Medicaid outreach workers to hospital sites?

Use the information strategically. Try to establish a connection with local hospital leaders and use the audit information to gain voluntary policy improvements. Local circumstances may, however, make it more feasible to go directly to a regulator: if there are free care requirements that are being ignored; the legislature if passage of a law is necessary; or the media if community concerns are not being taken seriously.

Take advantage of the "public process" opportunities presented when hospitals are seeking government approvals. As described above, hospital applications for local permits and state approvals typically have a process for public input. Communities should monitor hospital activity in this regard and intervene when possible to ensure that free care performance is an element in the decision-making process.

Consider challenging the tax-exempt status – at the local, state and federal level — of hospitals that are performing poorly with respect to free care. Communities should try to determine what the hospital's tax liability would be but for its non profit status, and use that data in assessing its free care performance. Based on its assessment, the community should meet with the appropriate taxing authorities and press them to investigate hospital policies and practices with respect to free care.

PHILANTHROPIES

All foundations and donors should condition their grants or gifts on hospital adoption of the free care standards. Philanthropies should insist — as the IRS does – that a hospital document both that it has a policy in place and that the policy is being implemented.

ALL PARTIES

Work together to ensure that the free care burden is spread equitably across all thirdparty payers and providers. The burden of free care is not shared equally by all hospitals. Moreover, there are other parties - including private and public third-party payers - whose practices have an impact on hospital ability to provide free care. And communities certainly have an interest in the viability of local institutions and hospital access for local residents. All parties perhaps convened by the state - should sit down together to address these issues and develop solutions that are fair *and* that preserve or expand access.

Advocate for universal coverage. Free care is not a substitute for comprehensive insurance coverage. All parties should have an interest in ensuring that such coverage is available to everyone. Experience has shown that states often lead the way in addressing health access issues (e.g., insurance market reform legislation, Medicaid expansions). All parties need to come together and develop workable proposals that have universal coverage as the goal. When that is achieved, hospital free care will cease to be an issue.

Notes

- ¹ American Hospital Association, "The Case for Hospital Payment Improvement" (2003), www.hospitalconnect.org.
- ² American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, *Audit and Accounting Guide: Health Care Organizations* (1996).
- ³ Ibid.
- ⁴ Cinda Becker, "Balance Past Due," Modern Healthcare, September 22, 2003.
- ⁵ See, for example, The Access Project, "The Consequences of Medical Debt: Evidence from Three Communities," Boston, MA (February 2003); O'Toole, T., "The Baltimore Safety Net Access to Care Survey," Open Society Institute, Baltimore, MD (July 2002); "Uncharitable Care: Yale-New Haven Hospital's Charity Care and Collection Practices," Connecticut Center for a New Economy (January 2003).
- ⁶ News release. U.S. Census Bureau, September 28, 2003.
- ⁷ Kaiser Family Foundation, "The Uninsured and Their Access to Health Care" (February 2002), www.kff.org.
- ⁸ Kaiser Family Foundation, "The Uninsured: A Primer" (March 2002).
- ⁹ Kaiser Family Foundation, "How Accessible is Individual Health Insurance for Consumers in Less-Than-Perfect Health?" (June 2001). These figures reflect 1999 data; there has been significant inflation in premium rates since then.
- ¹⁰ Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research and Educational Trust, "Employer Health Benefits: 2003 Annual Survey" (September 2003), www.kff.org.
- ¹¹ News release, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, "Number of Americans Without Health Insurance Rose in 2002," Washington, DC (September 30, 2003).
- ¹² News release, U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Employee Benefits in Private Industry, 2003," (September 17, 2003).
- ¹³ News release, U.S. Census Bureau, September 28, 2003.
- ¹⁴ Kaiser Family Foundation, "The Uninsured: A Primer" (March 2002).
- ¹⁵ News release, U.S. Census Bureau, September 28, 2003.
- ¹⁶ The Access Project, "The Consequences of Medical Debt: Evidence from Three Communities," Boston, MA (February 2003).
- ¹⁷ Kaiser Family Foundation and the Health Research and Educational Trust, "Employer Health Benefits: 2003 Annual Survey" (September 2003).
- ¹⁸ Amy D. Marcus, "Some Policies Quit Paying for Key Parts of Treatment," *The Wall Street Journal Online*, March 12, 2003.
- ¹⁹ "When Insurance Hits the Ceiling," Michelle Andrews, *The New York Times*, October 20, 2002.
- ²⁰ Blendon, R., "Public Attitudes Towards Access to Health Care," Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (1999). See also "Coverage Matters: Insurance and Health Care," Institute of Medicine, Washington, DC (September 2001).

- ²¹ Singer, I., "Cost-Sharing and the Uninsured: Trends at Safety Net Institutions," National Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems, Washington, DC (November 2000).
- ²² Garrett, B., Spillman, B., Zuckerman, S., "Does the Health Care Safety Net Narrow the Access Gap?" Urban Institute, Washington, DC (April 2003).
- ²³ Gusmano, M.K., Fairbrother, G., Park, H., "Exploring The Limits Of the Safety Net: Community Health Centers And Care For the Uninsured," *Health Affairs* (November/ December 2002).
- ²⁴ 42 USC 1395dd et seq.
- ²⁵ Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, Medicaid: A Primer, The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation (March 2001).
- ²⁶ State Health Facts Online, The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, www.kff.org.
- ²⁷ Holahan, J. and Brennan, N. "Who Are the Adult Uninsured? Assessing the New Federalism," Brief No. B-14, Washington, DC: Urban Institute (March 2000).
- ²⁸ Testimony of Patricia Neuman, Vice President and Director, Medicare Policy Project of the Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, prepared for Committee on Ways and Means, Subcommittee on Health, U.S. House of Representatives (May 1, 2003).
- ²⁹ See "The 2003 HHS Poverty Guidelines," http://aspe.hhs.gov/poverty/03poverty.htm.
- ³⁰ Pearce, D., Brooks, J., and Wider Opportunities for Women, "The Self-Sufficiency Standard for Colorado," prepared for the Colorado Fiscal Policy Institute (2001), www.wowonline.org. The data used in the calculation are two years old and therefore understate the selfsufficiency standard.
- ³¹ Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, Sicker and Poorer: The Consequences of Being Uninsured, Washington, DC, Kaiser Family Foundation (May 2002); Institute of Medicine, Care Without Coverage: Too Little, Too Late, Washington, DC, National Academy of Sciences (May 2002).
- ³² See, for example, Glied, S., Little, S., "The Uninsured and the Benefits of Medical Progress," Health Affairs, 22:4 (July/August 2003); Hass J., Goldman, L., "Acutely Injured Patients with Trauma in Massachusetts: Differences in Care and Mortality, by Insurance Status." American Journal of Public Health 84(1):1605-68 (1994).
- ³³ Andrulis, D., Duchon, L., Pryor, C., Goodman, N., "Paying for Health Care When You're Uninsured: How Much Support Does the Safety Net Offer?" Boston, MA, The Access Project (January 2003); press release, "The Baltimore Safety Net Access to Care Survey," Thomas O'Toole, M.D., Open Society Institute (July 30, 2002).
- ³⁴ The Access Project, "The Consequences of Medical Debt," Boston, MA (February 2003).
- ³⁵ The Access Project, "Paying for Health Care When You're Uninsured: How Much Support Does the Safety Net Offer?" Boston, MA (January 2003).
- ³⁶ Morrisey, M.A., Wedig, G.J., Hassan, M., "Do Nonprofit Hospitals Pay their Way?" Health Affairs, 15:4 (Winter 1996).
- ³⁷ "Uninsured Pay Twice As Much," Chicago Tribune, January 27, 2003.
- ³⁸ Consejo de Latinos Unidos, Cinco: An Investigative Report on Uninsured Latinos and Hospital Billing Practices in Southern California (June 11, 2001).
- ³⁹ Lucette Lagnado, "Moving In With Mom at Age 25," *Wall Street Journal*, March 17, 2003.

- ⁴⁰ Connecticut Statutes Sec. 19a-673(b). "Uninsured patient" is defined as a person whose income is at or below 250% FPL.
- ⁴¹ American Hospital Association, "Member Advisory: Four Related Issues Drawing Media and Congressional Attention - Know your Organization's Policies," June 2003, www.hospitalconnect.com/aha/advocacy-grassroots/advocacy/resources.
- ⁴² Medicare Provider Reimbursement Manual, Part I, Chapter 3, Section 312, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, www.cms.gov/manuals/pub151/PUB 15 1.asp.
- ⁴³ The Access Project, "The Consequences of Medical Debt: Evidence from Three Communities," Boston, MA (February 2003).
- ⁴⁴ The Access Project, "The Consequences of Medical Debt: Evidence from Three Communities," Boston, MA (February 2003).
- ⁴⁵ See, for example, Howatt, G., "Reorganization Proposal for HCMC Includes Cuts in Charity Care," *Minneapolis Star Tribune*, April 18, 2003; Howington, P., "New Health Care CEO Balances Mission, Money," *Louisville Courier Journal*, November 12, 2002; "American Hospital Association Endorses Trans Union's Credit Risk Management Tool," (June 2002), www.hospitalconnect.com; "Revenue Cycle Management: The Paradigm Shift to Success," Voluntary Hospital Association 2002 White Paper Series (2002); Cinda Becker, "Balance Past Due," *Modern Healthcare*, September 22, 2003.
- ⁴⁶ The Access Project, "The Consequences of Medical Debt: Evidence from Three Communities," Boston, MA (February 2003).
- ⁴⁷ The Access Project, "The Consequences of Medical Debt: Evidence from Three Communities," Boston, MA (February 2003).
- ⁴⁸ "Poor Falling Through the Cracks in Medical System, Study Says," *Baltimore Sun*, July 31, 2002.
- ⁴⁹ "Uncharitable Care: Yale-New Haven Hospital's Charity Care and Collections Practices," Connecticut Center for a New Economy (January 2003).
- ⁵⁰ See, for example, "Hospitals Overbill Uninsured, Group Says," *Denver Post*, February 28, 2003; "Activist for Uninsured Needles Hospitals And Draws Blood," *The Wall Street Journal*, June 29, 2003.
- ⁵¹ "HCA to Provide More Financial Relief to is Uninsured Patients," Nashville, TN: HCA (March 11, 2003); "Tenet Pledges Fair Treatment, Discount Prices for Uninsured," Santa Barbara, CA: Tenet Healthcare (January 28, 2003).
- ⁵² The Access Project, "The Consequences of Medical Debt: Evidence from Three Communities," Boston, MA (February 2003).
- ⁵³ See, for example, Jacoby, M., et al. "Rethinking the Debates Over health Care Financing: Evidence from the Bankruptcy Courts," 76 N.Y.U. Law Review 375, 383 (2001); The Access Project, "The Consequences of Medical Debt: Evidence from Three Communities," Boston, MA (February 2003).
- ⁵⁴ Canner, G., et al., "Recent Developments in Home Equity Lending," 84 Federal Reserve Bulletin 241, 248 (2000).
- ⁵⁵ Jacoby, M., Sullivan, T., Warren, E., "Rethinking the Debates over Health Care Financing: Evidence From the Bankruptcy Courts," 76 N.Y.U. Law Review (May 2001).
- ⁵⁶ Ibid.

- ⁵⁷ Andrulis, D., Duchon, L., Pryor, C., Goodman, N., "Paying for Health Care When You're Uninsured: How Much Support Does the Safety Net Offer?" Boston, MA: The Access Project (January 2003).
- ⁵⁸ See, e.g. Smith, T., "Charity Care Compliance Not Full," Richmond Times Dispatch, September 15, 2003.
- ⁵⁹ Medicare Provider Reimbursement Manual, Part I, Chapter 3, Section 304, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, www.cms.gov/manuals/pub151/PUB_15_1.asp.
- ⁶⁰ Ibid. at Chapter 3, Section 328.
- ⁶¹ See, for example, "Uncharitable Care: Yale-New Haven Hospital's Charity Care and Collections Practices," Connecticut Center for a New Economy (January 2003).
- ⁶² American Hospital Association, "Member Advisory: Four Related Issues Drawing Media and Congressional Attention - Know your Organization's Policies," June 2003, www.hospitalconnect.com/aha/advocacy-grassroots/advocacy/resources.
- ⁶³ The Access Project, "Paying for Health Care When You're Uninsured: How Much Support Does the Safety Net Offer?" Boston, MA (January 2003).
- ⁶⁴ Weissman, J., Dryfoos, P., London, K. "Income Levels of Bad Debt and Free Care Patients in Massachusetts Hospitals," *Health Affairs* (July/August 1999): 156-166.
- ⁶⁵ Institute of Medicine, "A Shared Destiny: Effects of Underinsurance on Individuals, Families and Communities" (March 2003).
- ⁶⁶ Ibid.
- ⁶⁷ American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, *Audit and Accounting Guide: Health Care Organizations* (1996).
- ⁶⁸ Those states are Arizona, Arkansas, California, Florida, Indiana, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Missouri, Montana, New Jersey, New York, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Vermont, Washington, and West Virginia.
- ⁶⁹ States that have statutory provisions requiring hospitals to report on the amount of uncompensated or free care they provide are Georgia, Minnesota, New Hampshire, New York, Texas, Utah, and West Virginia. However, some states are less aggressive than others in enforcing reporting requirements.
- ⁷⁰ See, for example, "Cracks in the Foundation: Averting a Crisis in America's Hospitals," American Hospital Association (2002); District of Columbia Hospital Association, "Financial Indicators for Fiscal Year 2001." The glossary of financial terms defines "unsponsored care" to include bad debt and charity care.
- ⁷¹ Lagnado, L., "Moving In With Mom at Age 25," *Wall Street Journal*, March 17, 2003.
- ⁷² Hadley, J., Holahan, J., "How Much Medical Care Do the Uninsured Use, and Who Pays For It?" *Health Affairs*, Web Exclusive, February 2003, www.healthaffairs.org.
- ⁷³ Morrisey, M., Hassan, M., Wedig, G., "Do Nonprofit Hospitals Pay their Way?" *Health Affairs*, 15:4 (Winter 1996).
- ⁷⁴ Hadley, J., Holahan, J., "How Much Medical Care Do The Uninsured Use, And Who Pays For It?" *Health Affairs*, Web Exclusive (February 2003), www.healthaffairs.org.
- ⁷⁵ Sutton, J., Milet, M., Blanchfield, B., "The Role of Private Hospitals in the California Healthcare Safety Net," Policy Analysis Brief, Project Hope (June 2002); Kane, N.,

Wubbenhorst, W., "Alternative Funding Policies for the Uninsured: Exploring the Value of Hospital Tax Exemption," *The Milbank Quarterly*, Vol. 78, No. 2 (2000).

- ⁷⁶ Kane, N., Wubbenhorst, W., "Alternative Funding Policies for the Uninsured: Exploring the Value of Hospital Tax Exemption," *The Milbank Quarterly*, Vol. 78, No. 2 (2000). Nicholson, S., Pauly, M., Burns, L., Baumritter, A., Asch, D., "Measuring Community Benefits Provided By For-Profit and Nonprofit Hospitals," *Health Affairs*, 19:6 (November/ December 2000).
- ⁷⁷ Organizations that want tax exemption on the basis that they are "charitable" organizations are not entitled automatically to tax-exempt status under federal law. They also must demonstrate that their activities fit within the common-law concept of charity. "[T]he common element of all charitable purposes is that they are designed to accomplish objects which are beneficial to the community." Restatement of the Law, Second, Trusts, Section 368 (1959).
- ⁷⁸ See, for example, Internal Revenue Service Ruling 56-185 (1956) and Internal Revenue Service Ruling 69-545 (1969).
- ⁷⁹ See, for example, Rev. Rul. 83-157, 1983-2C.B. 94; Rev. Rul. 98-15, 1998-1 C.B. 718; Geisinger Health Plan, 985 F.2d at 1219; Redlands Surgical Services, 113 T.C. at 73.
- ⁸⁰ See Internal Revenue Service National Office Field Service Advice, "Exempt Hospitals' Compliance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.501(c)(3)-1(c) (February 5, 2001). "Field Service Advice" is provided by the Chief Counsel to an IRS field examiner who is seeking guidance on the applicability of a particular IRS provision to a specific set of circumstances related to a taxpayer examination. It is not a final case determination.
- ⁸¹ See Redlands Surgical Services v. Commissioner, 113 T.C. 47, 86-88 (1999); Geisinger Health Plan, 985 F.2d at 1219.
- ⁸² See Internal Revenue Service National Office Field Service Advice, "Exempt Hospitals' Compliance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.501(c)(3)-1(c) (February 5, 2001).
- ⁸³ Hall, M.A., Colombo, J.D., "The Charitable Status of Nonprofit Hospitals: Toward a Donative Theory of Tax-Exemption," Washington Law Review, 66 (1991).
- ⁸⁴ Kane, N., Wubbenhorst, W., "Alternative Funding Policies for the Uninsured: Exploring the Value of Hospital Tax Exemption," The Milbank Quarterly, Vol. 78, No. 2 (2000).
- ⁸⁵ Those states are California, Connecticut, Georgia, Idaho, Indiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New Hampshire, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Texas, Utah, and West Virginia. See "Community Benefits Compendium: A Summary of State Community Benefit Laws and Regulations," Boston, MA: Community Catalyst (2000), www.communitycatalyst.org.
- ⁸⁶ "State Law Approaches to Ensuring the Social Accountability of Nonprofit Health Care Organizations," Coalition for Nonprofit Health Care, Washington, DC (July 1999). States that primarily use a "planning and reporting" approach include California, Connecticut, Idaho, Indiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New York, and Rhode Island. Pennsylvania, Texas, and Utah utilize a more prescriptive approach.
- ⁸⁷ See Tex. Health & Safety Code Ann. §§ 311.031-048 and related regulations at 25 Tex. Admin. Code §§ 13.11-20.

- ⁸⁸ "Nonprofit Hospital and Nursing Home Charitable Property Tax Standards," issued by the Utah State Tax Commission (1990).
- ⁸⁹ See, for example, Kane, N.M., Wubbenhorst, W.H., "Alternative Funding Policies for the Uninsured: Exploring the Value of Hospital Tax Exemption," *The Milbank Quarterly*, 78:2 (2000); Nicholson, S.N., Pauly, M.V., Burns, L.R., Baumritter, A., Asch, D.A., "Measuring Community Benefits Provided By For-Profit and Nonprofit Hospitals," *Health Affairs*, 19:6 (November/December 2000); Morrisey, M.A., Wedig, G.J., Hassan, M., "Do Nonprofit Hospitals Pay Their Way?," *Health Affairs*, 15:4 (Winter 1996).
- ⁹¹ Bovberg, R., Cuellar, A., Holahan, J. Market Competition and Uncompensated Care Pools, Urban Institute (2000); see also M.G.L. Chapter 118G, Section 18.
- ⁹² Idaho Code, Section 31-3501, et seq.
- ⁹³ Revised Code of Washington, Sections 70.170.060; 70.170.070.
- ⁹⁴ Rhode Island General Laws, Section 23-17-43. See also Rhode Island General Laws, Section 23-17.14-15.
- ⁹⁵ San Francisco Board of Supervisors Ordinance No. 1630-01.
- ⁹⁶ 42 U.S.C. Section 291 et seq.
- ⁹⁷ For a list of facilities with Hill-Burton obligations, see www.hrsa.gov/osp/dfcr/obtain/ hbstates.htm.
- 98 42USC §162(k)(2).
- ⁹⁹ The state plan is available either from the state Medicaid agency or from the regional office of the federal Center on Medicare and Medicaid Services. Contact information for the 10 regional offices is at http://cms.hhs.gov/clia/ro-map.asp.
- ¹⁰⁰ Ohio Revised Code, Section 5112.17.
- ¹⁰¹ State of Georgia, "Rules of the Department of Community Health, Division of Medical Assistance. Chapter 350-6, Indigent Care Trust Fund."
- ¹⁰² Davison, D. "Is Philanthropy Dying at te Hospital?" Philanthropy, August/September 2001.
- ¹⁰³ "Uncharitable Care: Yale-New Haven Hospital's Charity Care and Collections Practices," Connecticut Center for a New Economy, January 2003.
- ¹⁰⁴ Hadley, J., Holahan, J., "How Much Medical Care Do The Uninsured Use, And Who Pays For It?" *Health Affairs*, Web Exlusive, February, 2003, www.healthaffairs.org.
- ¹⁰⁵ Ibid.
- ¹⁰⁶ Business for Social Responsibility, "White Paper: Introduction to Corporate Social Responsibility" (2001); DiLorenzo, V.M., "Equal Economic Opportunity: Corporate Social Responsibility in the New Millenium," 71 University of Colorado Law Review. 51 (2000).
- ¹⁰⁷ Baldinucci, E.L., "The Community Reinvestment Act: New Standards Provide New Hope," 23 Fordham Urb. L.J. 831 (Spring, 1996).
- ¹⁰⁸ Rossi, J., "Universal Service in Competitive Retail Electric Power Markets: Whither the Duty to Serve?" Federal Energy Bar Association (2000).
- ¹⁰⁹ Rhode Island General Law §23-17-41 establishes a standard for provision of free care that applies to all hospitals. Massachusetts General Law Chapter 118G which governs payment of hospital uncompensated care and eligibility for free care applies to all acute care hospitals in the state. Chapter 70.170 of the Revised Code of Washington requires all hospitals to provide free care to certain income-eligible individuals.

Other Materials Produced by Community Catalyst

PUBLICATIONS

Community Catalyst Newsletter

- PAL Newsletter
- States of Health

ENVIRONMENT

□ The New Political Environment

MEDICAID

- The Medicaid Squeeze
- The Utah Primary Care Network
- MassHealth
- Rlte Care
- Oregon Health Plan
- Making the Case Against Medicaid Cuts

COMMUNITY BENEFITS

- The Need for Action: An Opportunity for Healthcare Change
- Corporate Responsibility Act: A Community Benefits Model Act and Commentary
- Health Care Community Benefits: Compendium of State Laws
- Fact Sheet: Defending Community Benefits in a Changing Health Care World.

FREE CARE

- Free Care: Compendium of State Laws
- ☐ The Free Care Safety Net
- New York Free Care Fact Sheet
- Ohio Free Care Fact Sheet

HOSPITAL AND HEALTH PLAN RESTRUCTURING

- Looking at the Full Picture:
 Analyzing the Community Health Impact of Hospital and Insurer Transactions.
- HMO Bankruptcies: Compendium of State Laws
- Conversions: Compendium of State Laws
- Selling Out: How to Protect Charitable Health Dollars and Services
- ☐ Model Conversion Legislation
- Model Certificate of Need Chart

- Protecting Health, Preserving Assets
- The Harvard Pilgrim Health Care Receivership: A Case Study in Consumer Activism

CONVERSION FOUNDATION PHILANTHROPY

- Building Strong Foundations:
 Creating Community Responsive
 Philanthropy in NonProfit
 Conversions
- Wisconsin BC/BS Conversion: Responsive Philanthropy

HEALTH CARE JUSTICE

- Strengthening the Consumer Health Movement through Legal Advocacy
- Health Care Justice: Linking Grassroots Leadership and Legal Advocacy

HEALTH CARE QUALITY

Enhancing Consumer Monitoring of HMO Sales and Marketing Practices

ORAL HEALTH

Addressing Oral Health Needs: A How-To Guide

DIVERSITY IN THE MEDICAL PROFESSION

The Color of Medicine: Strategies for Increasing Diversity in the Physician Workforce

COMMUNITY ORGANIZING TOOLS

- Guide to Organizing Community Forums
- Strength in Numbers: Guide to Building Community Coalitions
- Holding On: Fighting to Preserve Essential Services at Community Hospitals

States of Health Back Issues

- □ Getting to No: How Kansas Advocates Derailed the Anthem Steamroller Vol 11, No. 4, Summer 2002
- Building Coalitions: Lessons from the Alliance for a Healthy New England Vol. 12, No. 1, Winter 2002
- □ The New Medicaid Debate: Expansion or Retrenchment? Vol 11, No. 2, Summer 2001
- □ Quality of Care: Giving Consumers a Say Vol. 11, No. 1, Winter 2001
- □ Linking Grassroots Leadership and Legal Advocacy: Partnerships for Health Care Justice Vol. 10, No. 2, Fall 2000
- □ Expanding Medicaid to the Uninsured Vol. 10, No. 1, Spring 2000
- New England's Blue Cross Blue
 Shield Shake-Out: A Case Study in
 Consumer Activism Vol. 9, No. 4,
 Dec. 1999
- ☐ Making the Medicaid-Welfare Disconnect Work for Low-Income Families Vol. 9, No. 3, Sept. 1999

The materials listed here can be downloaded at no charge at our web site http:// www.communitycatalyst.org. If you would like to order a print copy to be mailed to your home or office, please return this form along with your mailing address to Communications Associate / Community Catalyst, Inc. / 30 Winter Street 10th Fl. / Boston, MA 02108